Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

He FJ, MacGregor GA



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2006, Issue 3

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	2
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	3
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	3
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	3
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	4
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	4
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	6
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	8
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	8
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	9
REFERENCES	9
TABLES	17
Characteristics of included studies	17
Characteristics of excluded studies	28
ADDITIONAL TABLES	31
Table 01. Search strategy to identify randomised salt reduction trials	31
ANALYSES	32
Comparison 01. Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model)	32
INDEX TERMS	32
COVER SHEET	32
GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES	34
Figure 01. Relationship between the net change in urinary sodium excretion and systolic blood pressure. The open circles	34
represent normotensives and the solid circles represent hypertensives. The slope is weighted by the inverse of the	
variance of the net change in systolic blood pressure. The size of the circle is in proportion to the weight of the trial.	
Figure 02. Relationship between the net change in urinary sodium excretion and diastolic blood pressure. The open	35
circles represent normotensives and the solid circles represent hypertensives. The slope is weighted by the inverse of	
the variance of the net change in diastolic blood pressure. The size of the circle is in proportion to the weight of the	
trial	
Figure 03. Funnel plot to explore publication bias (systolic). The vertical line is at the mean effect size. Precision is the	36
reciprocal of the standard error of the net change in systolic blood pressure.	
Figure 04. Funnel plot to explore publication bias (diastolic). The vertical line is at the mean effect size. Precision is the	37
reciprocal of the standard error of the net change in diastolic blood pressure	
Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model), Outcome	38
01 Systolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)	
Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model), Outcome	40
02 Diastolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)	

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

He FJ, MacGregor GA

This record should be cited as:

He FJ, MacGregor GA. Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2004, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004937. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004937.

This version first published online: 26 January 2004 in Issue 1, 2004. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 09 May 2005

ABSTRACT

Background

Many randomised trials assessing the effect of salt reduction on blood pressure show reduction in blood pressure in individuals with high blood pressure. However, there is controversy about the magnitude and the clinical significance of the fall in blood pressure in individuals with normal blood pressure. Several meta-analyses of randomised salt reduction trials have been published in the last few years. However, most of these included trials of very short duration (e.g. 5 days) and included trials with salt loading followed by salt deprivation (e.g. from 20 to 1 g/day) over only a few days. These short-term experiments are not appropriate to inform public health policy which is for a modest reduction in salt intake over a prolonged period of time. A meta-analysis (Hooper 2002) is an important attempt to look at whether advice to achieve a long-term salt reduction (i.e. more than 6 months) in randomised trials causes a fall in blood pressure. However, most trials included in this meta-analysis achieved a small reduction in salt intake; on average, salt intake was reduced by 2 g/day. It is, therefore, not surprising that this analysis showed a small fall in blood pressure, and that a dose-response to salt reduction was not demonstrable.

Objectives

To assess the effect of the currently recommended modest salt reduction on blood pressure in individuals with elevated and normal blood pressure.

To assess whether there is a dose-response to salt reduction.

Search strategy

We searched MEDLINE, EMBASE, Cochrane library and reference list of original and review articles.

Selection criteria

We included randomised trials with a modest reduction in salt intake and duration of 4 or more weeks.

Data collection and analysis

Data were extracted independently by two persons. Mean effect sizes were calculated using both fixed and random effects model. Weighted linear regression was performed to examine the relationship between the change in urinary sodium and the change in blood pressure.

Main results

Twenty trials in individuals with elevated blood pressure (n=802) and 11 trials in individuals with normal blood pressure (n=2220) were included. In individuals with elevated blood pressure the median reduction in urinary sodium was 78 mmol/24h (4.6 g/day of salt), the mean reduction in blood pressure was -5.06 mmHg (95%CI:-5.81 to -4.31) for systolic and -2.70 mmHg (95% CI:-3.16 to -2.24) for diastolic. In individuals with normal blood pressure the median reduction in urinary sodium was 74 mmol/24h (4.4 g/day of salt), the mean reduction in blood pressure was -2.03 mmHg (95% CI: -2.56 to -1.50) for systolic and -0.99 mmHg (-1.40 to -0.57) for diastolic. Weighted linear regression showed a significant relationship between the reduction in urinary sodium and the reduction in blood pressure.

Authors' conclusions

Our meta-analysis demonstrates that a modest reduction in salt intake for a duration of 4 or more weeks has a significant and, from a population viewpoint, important effect on blood pressure in both individuals with normal and elevated blood pressure. These results support other evidence suggesting that a modest and long-term reduction in population salt intake could reduce strokes, heart attacks, and heart failure. Furthermore, our meta-analysis demonstrates a correlation between the magnitude of salt reduction and the magnitude of blood pressure reduction. Within the daily intake range of 3 to 12 g/day, the lower the salt intake achieved, the lower the blood pressure.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Current public health recommendations in most developed countries are to reduce salt intake by about half, i.e. from approximately 10 grams per day to 5 grams per day. Our pooled analysis of randomised trials of 4 weeks or more in duration showed that reduction in salt intake lowers blood pressure both in individuals with elevated blood pressure and in those with normal blood pressure. These results support other evidence for a modest and long term reduction in population salt intake. If this occured it would result in a lower population blood pressure, and a reduction in strokes, heart attacks and heart failure. Furthermore, our study is consistent with the fact that the lower the salt intake, the lower the blood pressure. The current recommendations to reduce salt intake to 5 grams per day will lower blood pressure, but a further reduction to 3 grams per day will lower blood pressure more.

BACKGROUND

The current public health recommendations in most developed countries are to reduce salt intake by about half, i.e. from approximately 9-12 to 5-6 g/day (WHO 2003; SACN 2003; Whelton 2002). This is because salt intake is thought to play an important role in regulating blood pressure based on epidemiological, migration, intervention, genetic and animal studies (Elliott 1996; Poulter 1990; Forte 1989; Lifton 1996; Denton 1995). In addition, many trials assessing the effect of salt reduction on blood pressure have shown consistent reductions in blood pressure in individuals with elevated blood pressure. There is, however, controversy about the magnitude of the fall in blood pressure in those with normal blood pressure. Several meta-analyses of these salt reduction trials have been performed (Law 1991; Cutler 1991; Midgley 1996; Cutler 1997; Graudal 1998; Hooper 2002). In two metaanalyses (Midgley 1996; Graudal 1998), it was claimed that the results showed that salt reduction had no or very little effect on blood pressure in individuals with normal blood pressure. The authors concluded that a reduction in population salt intake is not warranted. Furthermore, these papers were used as the basis of a commentary in Science (Taubes 1998) casting doubt on the link between salt intake and blood pressure, and have also been used to oppose public health recommendations for a reduction in salt intake (Swales 2000).

Detailed examination of these two meta-analyses (Midgley 1996; Graudal 1998) shows that they are flawed. Both meta-analyses included trials of very short duration of salt restriction, many for only 5 days. On average, the median duration of salt reduction in individuals with normal blood pressure was only 8 days in one metaanalysis (Graudal 1998) and 14 days in the other (Midgley 1996). Furthermore, around half of these trials compared the effects of acute salt loading to abrupt and severe salt restriction, e.g. from 20 to less than 1 gram/day of salt (Graudal 1998). These acute and large changes in salt intake cause an increase in sympathetic activity, plasma renin activity, and angiotensin II concentration (He 2001), which would counteract the effects on blood pressure. It is also known that most blood pressure-lowering drugs do not exert their maximal effect within 5 days; this is particularly true with diuretics which are likely to work by a similar mechanism to that of a reduction in salt intake. For these reasons it is inappropriate to include the acute salt restriction trials in a meta-analysis that attempts to apply them to public health recommendations for a longer-term modest reduction in salt intake.

A more recent meta-analysis (Hooper 2002) is an important attempt to look at whether advice to achieve long term salt reduction (i.e. more than 6 months) in randomised trials causes a fall in blood pressure. However, most trials included in this meta-analysis only achieved a very small reduction in salt intake (on average, salt intake was only reduced by 2 g/day). It is, therefore, not surprising that there was only a small, but still statistically significant fall in blood pressure. Furthermore, this meta-analysis did not demonstrate a relationship between the magnitude of salt reduction and the magnitude of blood pressure reduction.

OBJECTIVES

Our systematic review aimed to assess the effect of a longer-term modest reduction in salt intake on blood pressure in individuals with both elevated and normal blood pressure. We also assessed whether there was a dose-response to salt reduction. Furthermore,

we aimed to study the effect of a longer-term modest reduction in salt intake on plasma renin activity, aldosterone, noradrenaline, and lipids.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

For inclusion, trials needed to satisfy the following criteria:

1. Random allocation either to a modestly reduced salt intake or usual salt intake (i.e. control).

2. No concomitant interventions (i.e. nonpharmacololgical interventions, antihypertensive or other medications) in either group.

3. Net reduction in 24-h urinary sodium must be equal to or greater than 40 mmol (2.4 g/day of salt). Net reduction in 24-h urinary sodium was calculated as UNa (Post) - UNa (Pre) for crossover trials, where UNa (Post) designated to the average 24-h urinary sodium at the end of the reduced salt intake period and UNa (Pre) designated to the average 24-h urinary sodium at the end of the usual salt intake period (i.e. control period). In parallel trials net change in urinary sodium was calculated as {[UNa (Post) - UNa (Pre)] reduced salt group} - {[UNa (Post) - UNa (Pre)] usual salt group}, where UNa (Post) designated to the average 24-h urinary sodium at the end of follow-up and UNa (Pre) designated to the average 24-h urinary sodium at baseline.

4. Duration of salt reduction must have been for 4 or more weeks. By excluding trials with very short duration, we excluded most of the trials with severe reductions in salt intake.

Types of participants

Studies of adults (18 years or older) with normal or elevated blood pressure, irrespective of gender and ethnicity, were included. Children or pregnant women were excluded.

Types of intervention

The interventions included were to reduce salt intake. Studies with concomitant interventions (i.e. nonpharmacololgical interventions, antihypertensive or other medications) were excluded. One trial with factorial design (i.e. the Trials of Hypertension Prevention, Phase II) was included (TOHPRG 1997), however, in this trial the low salt arm (without weight intervention) was compared to the control group (without salt or weight intervention).

Types of outcome measures

The main outcome measures extracted were the net changes in systolic and diastolic blood pressure, and 24h urinary sodium excretion. These were calculated as the differences between the reduced salt and usual salt groups for mean change from baseline for parallel trials. For crossover trials, the net changes were calculated as the mean differences between the end of reduced salt and usual salt period. Other variables recorded were plasma renin activity, aldosterone, noradrenaline, and lipids.

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Hypertension Group methods used in reviews.

In our first meta-analysis (He 2002), we developed a search strategy (Table 01) to search for randomised salt reduction trials from electronic database - MEDLINE (1966 to September 2001), EMBASE (1980 to September 2001), and CINAHL (1982 to June 2001). We also searched the Cochrane library with terms of "dietary sodium", or "dietary salt", or "sodium restriction", or "salt restriction". Furthermore, we reviewed reference list of original and review articles to search for more trials. There were no language restrictions.

For this review, we performed a repeated search from electronic database - MEDLINE, EMBASE and the Cochrane library, using the same search strategy in April 2005 through January 2001. This search revealed additional 12 randomised salt reduction trials. Among these 12 trials, 1 met our inclusion criteria and has been included in the meta-analysis (Gates 2004). The other 11 did not meet the inclusion criteria and have, therefore, been excluded. Another randomised double-blind trial from our own group which has been accepted by Hypertension (Swift 2005), also met the inclusion criteria, and has been included in this updated review. An additional randomised double-blind trial by Meland et al published in 1997 (Meland 1997), met the inclusion criteria, but was missed out in our first review. This trial is now included in the updated review.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

Data Extraction Data were extracted independently by two persons (F. He and L. Ruddock) using a standard form and differences were resolved by discussion with a third reviewer (G.A. MacGregor). Relevant data recorded were characteristics of the study, design (parallel or crossover), type of the study (open, single-blind or double-blind), method of blinding (use of placebo, random-zero or automated sphygmomanometers, or blood pressure observers-blind), study duration, pre- and postintervention results. For the purpose of pooled analyses, statistics that could be used to estimate the variances of the outcome measures were also recorded.

Statistical Analyses For each trial, we calculated the treatment effect for systolic and diastolic blood pressure. For crossover trials, the treatment effect was the difference in blood pressure between the end of reduced salt period and the end of usual salt (i.e. control) period. For parallel trials, the treatment effect was the difference

between the two treatment groups in the change in blood pressure from baseline to the end of follow-up.

For each trial, we also calculated the variance of the treatment effect for systolic and diastolic blood pressure. This was derived from standard deviations or standard errors of paired differences between baseline and the end of follow-up for each group in a parallel trial (Cappuccio 1991) or between the two treatment periods in a crossover trial, or if these statistics were not given, from confidence intervals, exact t or p values. If the exact variance of paired difference was not derivable, it was imputed either by inverting a boundary p value (e.g. p<0.05 became p=0.05) or assuming a correlation coefficient of 0.5 between the initial and final blood pressure (Follmann 1992). Among the 31 trials included in our meta-analysis, 10 had to have variance imputed (Table: "Characteristics of included studies").

Mean effect sizes were calculated using both fixed and random effects model on Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager 4.2.1 software. To examine whether there was a dose response relationship between the change in 24-h urinary sodium and the change in blood pressure, we performed weighted linear regression assuming a zero intercept. The assumption for using this model was that absence of a change in urinary sodium would be associated with no change in blood pressure, i.e. all other factors being equal between two randomised treatments. Furthermore, when we performed weighted linear regression without fixing the origin, the intercepts were not significantly different from zero. We used funnel plot asymmetry to detect publication and other biases in the meta-analysis (Egger 1997; Sterne 2001).

DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

Thirty-one trials with 3022 subjects were found that fitted the inclusion criteria. A total of 112 trials were excluded, and the reasons for exclusion were 1) duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks (n=63); 2) with concomitant intervention (medication or nonpharmacololgical intervention) (n=30); 3) studies in children (n=9), or pregnant women (n=2); 4) urinary sodium not measured (n=4); 5) net reduction in 24 h urinary sodium less than 40 mmol (n=3); 6) extreme change in salt intake (i.e. urinary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h) (n=1).

Among the 31 trials included in the meta-analysis, 20 were in patients with elevated blood pressure and 11 in individuals with normal blood pressure. For 3 papers where both elevated and normal blood pressure were studied, the data for the two categories were recorded separately and each of these papers was counted as two studies in this meta-analysis (Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N); Puska 1983 (H); Puska 1983 (N); Cappuccio 1997 (H); Cappuccio 1997 (N)) . For 2 papers (MacGregor 1989; Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N)) where 3 levels of salt intakes were studied, we included the high and intermediate levels (i.e. urinary sodium reduced from 190 to 108 mmol/24h) in one trial (MacGregor 1989) and in the other (DASH-Sodium study) (Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N)) we included the high and low levels (i.e. urinary sodium reduced from 145 to 65 mmol/24h in individuals with elevated blood pressure and from 139 to 64 mmol/24h in individuals with normal blood pressure on the normal American diet). In 3 studies (Morgan 1981 (F); Morgan 1981 (M); Nestel 1993 (F); Nestel 1993 (M); Watt 1985 (HH) offspring of two parents with elevated blood pressure; Watt 1985 (LL) offspring of two parents with low blood pressure) where subgroup data were reported only, they were entered for subgroups separately. The characteristics of the trials included in the meta-analysis are summarised in Table: "Characteristics of included studies".

METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

Criteria for assessment of trial quality were as follows:

1. Concealment of Allocation Sequences (Jüni 2001)

The allocation sequences were defined as adequately concealed if participants and investigators can not foresee assignment, e.g. a prior numbered or coded drug containers of identical appearance prepared by an independent pharmacy; central randomisation, and as inadequately concealed if participants and investigators can foresee assignment, e.g. open list of random numbers.

2. Blinding

We distinguished trials by the methods of blinding, i.e. doubleblind, blood pressure observer blind, or open study.

3. Completeness of Follow-up

We defined trials as using intention-to-treat analysis if all subjects were analysed in the groups to which they were randomly allocated, and as not using intention-to-treat analysis if only subjects who completed the trial were included in the analysis. We also recorded the number of subjects who were lost of follow-up after randomisation.

RESULTS

Effect on blood pressure

Trials in individuals with elevated blood pressure

Eight hundred and two individuals with elevated blood pressure were studied in 20 trials (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). Median age was 50 years (ranging from 24 to 73 years). Of the 20 trials, 14 employed crossover design and 6 used paralleled comparisons. Twelve out of the 20 trials were double blind, 7 were blood pressure observer blind, and 1 did not report any blinding procedure. The study duration varied from 4 weeks to 1 year (median: 5 weeks). The median blood pressure on usual salt intake was 149/94 mmHg. The median 24-h urinary sodium on the usual salt intake was 162 mmol (9.5 g/day of salt), ranging from 125

to 191 mmol (7.4 to 11.2 g/day of salt) and on the reduced salt intake it was 87 mmol (5.1 g/day of salt), ranging from 57 to 125 mmol (3.4 to 7.4 g/day of salt). The median net change in 24-h urinary sodium was -78 mmol (4.6 g/day of salt), ranging from -53 to -117 mmol (3.1 to 6.9 g/day of salt). This average reduction in salt intake is similar to that of the current public health recommendations.

Figure 01-01 and Figure 01-02 show the net change in blood pressure in individual trials included in the meta-analysis and the mean effect size using the fixed effect model. The pooled estimates of changes in blood pressure are -5.06 mmHg (95% CI: -5.81 to -4.31) for systolic and -2.70 mmHg (95% CI: -3.16 to -2.24) for diastolic.

Using the random effects model, the pooled estimates of changes in blood pressure are -5.27 mmHg (95% CI: -6.69 to -3.85) for systolic and -2.76 mmHg (95% CI: -3.55 to -1.97) for diastolic.

The dose response analysis with the y-intercept fixed at zero shows a significant dose response to salt reduction for both systolic and diastolic blood pressure (Figure 1a; Figure 1b). A reduction of 100 mmol/day (6 g/day) in salt intake predicts a fall in blood pressure of 7.2 mmHg (95% CI: 5.6 to 8.8) for systolic and 3.8 mmHg (95%CI: 2.8 to 4.7) for diastolic blood pressure.

Trials in individuals with normal blood pressure

Two thousand two hundred and twenty individuals with normal blood pressure were studied in 11 trials (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). Median age was 47 years (ranging from 22 to 67 years). Of the 11 trials, 6 employed crossover design and 5 used paralleled comparisons. Seven of the 11 trials were double blind and 4 were blood pressure observer blind. The study duration varied from 4 weeks to 3 years (median: 4 weeks). The median blood pressure on usual salt intake was 127/78 mmHg. The median 24-h urinary sodium on the usual salt intake was 154 mmol (9.1 g/day of salt), ranging from 128 to 200 mmol (7.5 to 11.8 g/day of salt) and on the reduced salt intake it was 82 mmol (4.8 g/day of salt), ranging from 56 to 135 mmol (3.3 to 7.9 g/day of salt). The median net change in 24-h urinary sodium was -74 mmol (4.4 g/day of salt), ranging from -40 to -118 mmol (2.4 to 6.9 g/day of salt). This average reduction in salt intake is similar to that of the current public health recommendations. It is important to note that in the only two longer-term trials (18 months and 3 years) (TOHPRG 1992; TOHPRG 1997) the reduction in salt intake was about half that found in the trials of 4 to 6 weeks.

Figure 01-01 and Figure 01-02 shows the net change in blood pressure in individual trials included in the meta-analysis and the mean effect size using the fixed effect model. The pooled estimates of changes in blood pressure are -2.03 mmHg (95% CI: -2.56 to -1.50) for systolic and -0.99 mmHg (95% CI: -1.40 to -0.57) for diastolic.

Using random effects model, the pooled estimates of change in blood pressure are -2.31 mmHg (95% CI: -3.48 to -1.14) for systolic and -0.84 mmHg (95% CI: -1.72 to 0.03) for diastolic.

The dose response analysis with the y-intercept fixed at zero shows a dose response to salt reduction for both systolic and diastolic blood pressure (Figure 1a; Figure 1b). A reduction of 100 mmol/day (6 g/day) in salt intake predicts a fall in blood pressure of 3.6 mmHg (95%CI: 1.9 to 5.2) for systolic and 1.7 mmHg (95%CI: 0.3 to 3.0) for diastolic.

Trials in all individuals

When taking all individuals together, there were 3022 subjects, among whom 27% had elevated blood pressure. Median age was 50 years (ranging from 22 to 73 years). The study duration varied from 4 weeks to 3 years (median: 5 weeks). The pooled estimates of changes in blood pressure, using a fixed effect model, are -3.03 mmHg (95% CI: -3.46 to -2.59) for systolic and -1.76 mmHg (95% CI: -2.07 to -1.46) for diastolic. Using a random effects model, the pooled estimates of changes in blood pressure are -3.99 mmHg (95% CI: -5.05 to -2.93) for systolic and -1.92 mmHg (95% CI: -2.59 to -1.26) for diastolic.

Effect on hormones and lipids

Plasma renin activity

Of the 31 trials, 11 reported the data of plasma renin activity (8 in hypertensives and 3 in normotensives) (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). The median plasma renin activity was 0.97 ng/ml/hr on the usual salt and 1.53 ng/ml/hr on the reduced salt intake. The pooled estimate of the change in plasma renin activity was 0.13 ng/ml/hr (95% CI: 0.09 to 0.18) using the fixed effect model, and 0.29 ng/ml/hr (0.15 to 0.42) using random effects model.

Aldosterone

Of the 31 trials, 9 had plasma aldosterone measured (7 in hypertensives and 2 in normotensives) (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). One trial (Benetos 1992) was excluded from the aldosterone analysis as the plasma aldosterone was extremely high after the unit conversion (235277.8 pmol/l on the usual salt and 269166.7 pmol/l on the reduced salt intake). The median plasma aldosterone was 298 pmol/l on the usual salt and 399 pmol/l on the reduced salt intake. The pooled estimate of the change in aldosterone was 90.7 pmol/l (95% CI: 68.1 to 113.3) using the fixed effect model and 122.3 pmol/l (95% CI: 60.7 to 183.8) using random effects model.

Noradrenaline

Plasma noradrenaline was measured in 6 trials (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). Only 1 trial showed a significant increase (increased by 79 pg/ml, P<0.05) (Ruppert 1993), and the others showed no significant changes.

Lipids

Five trials reported the data of total cholesterol and 3 reported the data of triglyceride, low-density-lipoprotein and high-densitylipoprotein cholesterol (Table: "Characteristics of included studies") . None showed any significant change in total cholesterol, triglyceride, low-density-lipoprotein or high-density-lipoprotein cholesterol.

Study quality

Among the 31 trials included in our meta-analysis 23 were judged to have adequate concealment of allocation of treatments (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). In 8 trials the information on concealment of allocation was not available. The number of trials using intention-to-treat analysis was small (7 out of 31 trials) (ANHMRC 1989 (P); ANHMRC 1989 (X); Chalmers 1986; Cobiac 1992; Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N); TOHPRG 1992). The percentage of subjects who were lost of follow-up after randomisation was small (6.5% on average).

We included double-blind, blood pressure observer-blind, and open studies due to the fact that 1) some trials e.g. the DASH-Sodium (Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N)), although non-doubleblinded, were well conducted with good compliance to different diets; and 2) it is very difficult to make any dietary intervention study double-blind. In relation to salt this can only be done by the use of salt tablets (Slow Sodium and placebo). Among the 31 trials included in our meta-analysis, 19 were double-blind, 11 were blood pressure observer-blind and only one small trial in hypertensives was non-blind (Table: "Characteristics of included studies"). Re-analysing the data by excluding the non-blind study (Parijs 1973) showed that the results were unchanged. The mean net change in blood pressure for individuals with elevated blood pressure was -5.04 mmHg (95%CI: -5.79 to -4.28) for systolic and -2.72 mmHg (95%CI: -3.18 to -2.27) for diastolic when the non-blinded study was excluded.

Publication bias

We plotted the funnel plots by plotting the treatment effect against the reciprocal of the standard error of the treatment effect (Figure 2a; Figure 2b). For diastolic blood pressure the funnel plots were symmetrical about the mean effect size line (asymmetry test: P= 0.500) (Egger 1997). For systolic the graphic plot was suggestive of bias (asymmetry test: P=0.034). This asymmetry of funnel plot might be because smaller studies showing no effect were underreported in the literature. However, in our meta-analysis it is more likely to be due to the smaller effects of two larger and longer-term trials (TOHPRG 1992; TOHPRG 1997). The smaller effects in these two trials are most likely due to the smaller reduction of salt intake achieved in the longer-term trials. When these two trials were removed from the analysis, the asymmetry test was not significant (i.e. P>0.1).

DISCUSSION

Our meta-analysis of randomised trials of longer-term modest reductions in salt intake demonstrates a significant effect on blood

pressure in individuals with both elevated and normal blood pressure. The blood pressure fell, on average, by 5/3 mmHg in hypertensives and 2/1 mmHg in normotensives. These falls in blood pressure would have an immediate and significant impact on population blood pressure and would, therefore, be predicted to reduce stroke deaths by approximately 14% and ischaemic heart disease (IHD) deaths by 9% in individuals with elevated blood pressure, and in individuals with normal blood pressure reduce stroke and IHD deaths by approximately 6% and 4% respectively (Stamler 1991; MacMahon 1990). It is important to note that these reductions in stroke and IHD deaths were estimated from a previous meta-analysis of prospective observational studies (MacMahon 1990). A recent meta-analysis of 1 million adults in 61 prospective studies demonstrates that the relationship between blood pressure and cardiovascular risk is much stronger than previously estimated (PSC 2002). Therefore, the reductions in stroke and IHD with the modest reductions in salt intake might be even greater. Since raised blood pressure is also a major risk factor for heart failure, a reduction in salt intake would likely reduce the incidence of heart failure.

Dose-response to salt reduction

Weighted linear regression with the regression line forced through the origin shows a significant dose response between the reduction in salt intake and the fall in blood pressure, suggesting that the lower the salt intake achieved, the greater the effect. The reasons to force the regression line through origin were: 1) Most trials did not report confounding factors. We assumed that in randomised well-controlled studies the confounding factors did not change throughout the trial in crossover studies and were comparable between the two treatment groups in parallel studies; 2) When we performed weighted linear regression without fixing the origin, the intercepts were not significantly different from zero. Indeed the slopes (mmHg/mmol) for the data forced through the origin (0.072/0.038, systolic/diastolic) are similar to those without fixing the origin (0.120/0.025) in individuals with elevated blood pressure. Likewise in individuals with normal blood pressure the regression lines with the fixed origin (0.036/0.017) are similar to those without fixing the origin (0.033/0.011).

It is important to emphasize that the best way to study the doseresponse relationship between salt intake and blood pressure is to look at the blood pressure responses to several levels of salt intake for a sufficiently long period of time. So far, there are only two controlled trials in humans that studied 3 salt intakes, each for 4 weeks (MacGregor 1989; Sacks 2001 (H); Sacks 2001 (N)). Both studies showed a clear dose response, indicating that the lower the salt intake the lower the blood pressure. The dose-response relationship observed in our meta-analysis is in agreement with these two studies with three levels of salt intake. All three studies demonstrate a consistent dose response to salt reduction, within the range of 12 to 3 g/day, the lower the salt intake, the lower the blood pressure (He 2003).

Study duration

In spite of including studies of 1 month or more, the median duration of salt reduction in our meta-analysis was 5 weeks in the hypertensives and 4 weeks in the normotensives. Whether salt reduction has exerted its maximum effect by 4 weeks is not known, but much evidence would suggest that this is unlikely (Forte 1989). The finding that the two longer-term trials (TOHPRG 1992; TOHPRG 1997) in normotensives that were included had no greater effect on blood pressure is likely to be due to the fact that salt intake was only reduced on average by 2.5 g/day, whereas in the other trials it was reduced on average by 4.4 g/day.

Heterogeneity

There is significant heterogeneity across studies in our meta-analysis. However, it is still controversial how to deal with heterogeneous data, we therefore reported the mean effect sizes based on both the fixed effect model and random effects model (Petitti 2001). These two models produced very similar results. Heterogeneity may be due to a number of factors that affect the blood pressure responses to salt reduction, e.g. differences between studies in age, ethnic group, blood pressure levels, the amount of reduction in salt intake, the duration of salt reduction, and the quality of studies. Further sensitivity analyses were not performed due to the small number of trials that met the inclusion criteria and the very limited information reported in the studies.

Any adverse effects of modest salt reduction?

The previous meta-analyses by Midgley (Midgley 1996) and Graudal (Graudal 1998) have implied that salt reduction might have adverse effects which mitigate any benefit that occurs with the reduction in blood pressure. However, it has been pointed out that there is no evidence for any adverse effects from salt reduction and this is particularly true for the more modest reductions in salt intake that are the current public health recommendations (De Wardener 1999). Our meta-analysis shows that with modest reductions in salt intake there are only very small increases in plasma renin activity and aldosterone and no detectable change in sympathetic activity, total cholesterol, triglyceride, low-density or highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol.

Mortality Studies

One of the difficulties of drawing conclusions about the importance of dietary or other lifestyle changes in cardiovascular disease is the lack of morbidity and mortality evidence. One has to accept that outcome studies of dietary or lifestyle changes in the population are extremely difficult. Indeed, there is unlikely to ever be outcome evidence on mortality for the important dietary variants, e.g. fruit and vegetables, or other lifestyle changes e.g. losing weight, or exercising. For instance, a study assessing the lifetime effects of salt would need to randomise subjects at the time of conception to a lower and higher salt intake and then follow the two groups on a high and low salt intake for the rest of their lives. Such studies are impractical and would be unethical in the light of current knowledge. Alderman attempted to look at the effect of salt intake on cardiovascular disease in two cohort studies, one was a follow-up study of a worksite screening project in New York (Alderman 1995), and the other was NHANES 1 - a dietary survey of US adults from the mid 1970s (Alderman 1998). These studies suggested that a low salt diet increased the risk of cardiovascular disease. However, these two analyses are flawed and have been criticised (MacGregor 1996; De Wardener 1999; De Wardener 1998; Engelman 1998; Karppanen 1998). A further analysis of the NHANES 1 data showed that a high salt intake was significantly associated with increased cardiovascular events and all cause mortality in overweight persons (He 1999).

A recent study from Finland using a random sample of the Finnish adult population showed that salt intake was directly related to increased cardiovascular mortality and total mortality (Tuomilehto 2001). For a 6 g/day increase in salt intake there were large increases in both coronary events, cardiovascular events and total mortality. Another recent population-based cohort study of Japanese men and women showed that sodium intake was positively associated with stroke death (Nagata 2004).

Other evidence in support of a reduction in population salt intake

In assessing whether salt reduction has beneficial effects on public health, it is important to look at other types of evidence. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated that salt intake is an important factor in determining population blood pressure level and the rise in blood pressure with age (Elliott 1996). Studies in migrant populations have shown an increase in blood pressure with a move from a traditional rural to an urban environment where salt intake was increased along with other changes (Poulter 1990). An intervention study in two similar villages in Portugal where salt intake was successfully reduced in one by the provision of processed foods with less salt and appropriate dietary advice demonstrated a large difference in blood pressure between the two villages by the first year and a more pronounced difference in the second year (Forte 1989). Another two intervention studies, one in Belgium (Staessen 1988) and one in North Karelia (Tuomilehto 1984), did not achieve any reduction in salt intake, so unsurprisingly, there was no change in blood pressure. Evidence in animals, particularly in chimpanzees our closest relative, also supports the role of salt in controlling blood pressure (Denton 1995). Recently described rare mutations in humans that may either cause high or low blood pressure all involve a defect in the kidney's ability to excrete salt and are exacerbated by a high and low salt intake respectively (Lifton 1996). There is also evidence early in life that humans are particularly sensitive to salt intake and a small reduction in salt intake in the first six months of life appeared to have a long-lasting effect on blood pressure (Geleijnse 1996). This evidence alone suggests that a modest reduction in salt intake throughout the population would have a large impact on population blood pressure.

From the evidence above it is likely that high salt intake has a

gradual long-term (over decades) effect to increase blood pressure with increasing age. It is also likely that these effects would not be entirely reversed by reducing salt intake for 4 to 6 weeks as demonstrated in our meta-analysis. It is therefore possible that our meta-analysis underestimates the effect of reducing salt intake over a longer period of time.

There is increasing evidence that a modest reduction in salt intake has other beneficial effects on human health e.g. a reduced risk of stomach cancer (Tsugane 2004; Beevers 2004; Joossens 1996), a direct effect to reduce stroke (Nagata 2004), and a reduction in left ventricular hypertrophy (Perry 1992; Jula 1994; Kupari 1994) . These effects are possibly independent of and additive to the effect of salt reduction on blood pressure (Antonios 1996). A recent randomised double-blind trial in 40 hypertensive blacks demonstrates that a modest reduction in salt intake not only lowers blood pressure, but also reduces urinary protein excretion which is an independent risk factor for the progression of renal disease and cardiovascular disease (Swift 2005). Another randomised doubleblind trial in individuals with stage 1 isolated systolic hypertension shows that modest salt reduction lowers blood pressure, and also improves the directly measured large elastic artery compliance (Gates 2004). The results from these recent studies provide further support to the accumulating evidence that a modest reduction in salt intake not only lowers blood pressure, but also has other beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system (de Wardener 2002; Safar 2000). Reducing salt intake also decreases loss of calcium by the kidney with a reduced risk of renal stones and bone demineralisation (Cappuccio 2000).

Reducing salt intake from the current levels of 9-12 g/day to the recommended levels of 5-6 g/day is not an easy task. In most developed countries 75-80% of salt intake now comes from salt added to processed foods. In our view, the best strategy would be to have the food industry gradually reduce the salt concentration of all processed foods, starting with a 10-25% reduction which is not detectable by consumers and continuing a sustained reduction over the course of the next decade. This strategy has now been adopted in the UK both by the Department of Health and Food Standards Agency, and several leading supermarkets and food manufacturers have already started to implement such changes. Of all the dietary changes to try and prevent cardiovascular disease, a reduction in salt intake is the easiest change, however, it requires the co-operation of the food industry. Clearly it would be additionally helpful if individuals also reduced the amount of salt they add to their own cooking or to their food. If this strategy was implemented and the recommended levels of 5-6 g/day were achieved, there would likely be the predicted reductions in strokes, heart attacks and heart failure. A further reduction to 3 grams of salt per day would be expected to have additional benefits (He 2003).

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Our meta-analysis demonstrates that a modest reduction in salt intake has a significant effect on blood pressure in both individuals with elevated blood pressure and to a lesser extent in individuals with normal blood pressure. These findings in conjunction with other evidence relating salt intake to blood pressure make a strong case for a reduction in salt intake for individuals with elevated blood pressure, but also for a reduction in population salt intake. The goal in both cases is to lower blood pressure with the expectation that this would be associated with a reduction cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Furthermore, our study suggests a doseresponse to salt reduction; within the range of 3 to 12 g of salt intake/day, the lower the salt intake, the lower the blood pressure. Current recommendations to reduce salt intake to 5-6 g/day will have a major effect on blood pressure and therefore cardiovascular disease, but are not ideal. Reducing salt intake further to 3 g/day will have additional large effects.

Implications for research

The totality of evidence that links salt intake to blood pressure is now overwhelming. Increasing evidence from epidemiological studies in humans and experimental studies in animals suggests that a modest reduction in salt intake may have other beneficial effects on human health. Randomised trials are needed to study these other effects, e.g. the effect on left ventricular mass, left ventricular diastolic function, 24h urinary albumin excretion, renal stones, and biochemical markers of bone metabolism. Some researchers have called for randomised trials on cardiovascular mortality. However, it is extremely difficult to conduct such long-term trials. Indeed, there is unlikely to ever be outcome evidence on mortality for any of the important dietary variants, e.g. fruit and vegetables, or other lifestyle changes e.g. losing weight, or exercising. For instance, a study on salt would need to randomise subjects at the time of conception to a lower and higher salt intake and then follow up the two groups of offspring on a high and low salt intake for the rest of their lives. Such studies are impractical and would be unethical in the light of current knowledge.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Lawrence Ruddock for independently extracting data to check our own analysis. We also thank the authors who kindly provided the data necessary for the computation of some of the variables included in the analysis.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

Internal sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

ANHMRC 1989 (P) {published data only}

Australian National Health and Medical Research Council Dietary Salt Study Management Committee. Fall in blood pressure with modest reduction in dietary salt intake in mild hypertension. *Lancet* 1989; **1**:399–402.

ANHMRC 1989 (X) {published data only}

Australian National Health and Medical Rresearch Council Dietary Salt Study Management Committee. Effects of replacing sodium intake in subjects on a low sodium diet: a crossover study. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 1989;**A11**:1011–24.

Benetos 1992 {published data only}

Benetos A, Yang Yan X, Cuche JL, Hannaert P, Safar M. Arterial effects of salt restriction in hypertensive patients. A 9-week, randomized, double-blind, crossover study. *J Hypertens* 1992;**10**:355–60.

Cappuccio 1997 (H) {published data only}

Cappuccio FP, Markandu ND, Carney C, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. Double-blind randomised trial of modest salt restriction in older people. *Lancet* 1997;**350**:850–4.

Cappuccio 1997 (N) {published data only}

Cappuccio FP, Markandu ND, Carney C, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. Double-blind randomised trial of modest salt restriction in older people. *Lancet* 1997;**350**:850–4.

Chalmers 1986 {published data only}

Chalmers J, Morgan T, Doyle A, Dickson B, Hopper J, Mathews J, Matthews G, Moulds R, Myers J, Nowson C, Scoggins B, Stebbing M. Australian National Health and Medical Rresearch Council dietary salt study in mild hypertension. *J Hypertens* 1986;**4**(**suppl 6**): S629–37.

Cobiac 1992 {published data only}

Cobiac L, Nestel PJ, Wing LMH, Howe PRC. A low-sodium diet supplemented with fish oil lowers blood pressure in the elderly. *J Hypertens* 1992;**10**:87–92.

Erwteman 1984 {published data only}

Erwteman TM, Nagelkerke N, Lubsen J, Koster M, Dunning AJ. Beta-blockade, diuretics, and salt restriction for the management of mild hypertension: a randomised double blind trial. *BMJ* 1984;**289**: 406–9.

Fotherby 1993 {published data only}

Fotherby MD, Potter JF. Effects of moderate sodium restriction on clinic and twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure in elderly hypertensive subjects. *J Hypertens* 1993;**11**:657–63.

Gates 2004 {published data only}

Gates PE, Tanaka H, Hiatt WR, Seals DR. Dietary sodium restriction rapidly improves large elastic artery compliance in older adults with systolic hypertension. *Hypertension* 2004;44:35–41.

Grobbee 1987 {published data only}

Grobbee DE, Hofman A, Roelandt JT, Boomsma F, Schalekamp MA, Valkenburg HA. Sodium restriction and potassium supplementation in young people with mildly elevated blood pressure. *J Hypertens* 1987;**5**:115–9.

MacGregor 1982 {published data only}

MacGregor GA, Markandu ND, Best FE, Elder DM, Cam JM, Sagnella GA, Squires M. Double-blind randomised crossover trial of moderate sodium restriction in essential hypertension. *Lancet* 1982; 1:351–5.

MacGregor 1989 {published data only}

MacGregor GA, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, Singer D, Cappuccio FP. Double-blind study of three sodium intakes and long-term effects of sodium restriction in essential hypertension. *Lancet* 1989;**2**:1244–7.

Mascioli 1991 {published data only}

Mascioli S, Grimm RH, Launer C, Svendsen K, Flack J, Gonzalez N, Elmer P, Neaton J. Sodium chloride raises blood pressure in normotensive subjects: the study of sodium and blood pressure. *Hypertension* 1991;17(suppl I):121–6.

Meland 1997 {published data only}

Meland E, Laerum E, Aakvaag A, Ulvik RJ, Hostmark AT. Salt restriction: effects on lipids and insulin production in hypertensive patients. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1997;**57**:501–5.

Morgan 1981 (F) {published data only}

Morgan TO, Myer JB. Hypertension treated by sodium restriction. *Med J Aust* 1981;**2**:396–7.

Morgan 1981 (M) {published data only}

Morgan TO, Myer JB. Hypertension treated by sodium restriction. *Med J Aust* 1981;**2**:396–7.

Nestel 1993 (F) {published data only}

Nestel PJ, Clifton PM, Noakes M, McArthur R, Howe PR. Enhanced blood pressure response to dietary salt in elderly women, especially those with small waist:hip ratio. *J Hypertens* 1993;**11**:1387–94.

Nestel 1993 (M) {published data only}

Nestel PJ, Clifton PM, Noakes M, McArthur R, Howe PR. Enhanced blood pressure response to dietary salt in elderly women, especially those with small waist:hip ratio. *J Hypertens* 1993;**11**:1387–94.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Parijs 1973 {published data only}

Parijs J, Joossens JV, der Linden LV, Verstreken G, Amery AKPC. Moderate sodium restriction and diuretics in the treatment of hypertension. *Am Heart J* 1973;**85**:22–34.

Puska 1983 (H) {published data only}

Puska P, Iacono JM, Nissinen A, Korhonen HJ, Vartiainen E, Pietinen P, Dougherty R, Leino U, Mutanen M, Moisio S, Huttunen J. Controlled, randomised trial of the effect of dietary fat on blood pressure. *Lancet* 1983;1:1–5.

Puska 1983 (N) {published data only}

Puska P, Iacono JM, Nissinen A, Korhonen HJ, Vartiainen E, Pietinen P, Dougherty R, Leino U, Mutanen M, Moisio S, Huttunen J. Controlled, randomised trial of the effect of dietary fat on blood pressure. *Lancet* 1983;**1**:1–5.

Richards 1984 {published data only}

Richards AM, Nicholls MG, Espiner EA, Ikram H, Maslowski AH, Hamilton EJ, Wells JE. Blood-pressure response to moderate sodium restriction and to potassium supplementation in mild essential hypertension. *Lancet* 1984;1:757–61.

Ruppert 1993 {published data only}

Ruppert M, Overlack A, Kolloch R, Kraft K, Gobel B, Stumpe KO. Neurohormonal and metabolic effects of severe and moderate salt restriction in non-obese normotensive adults. *J Hypertens* 1993;**117**: 743–9.

Sacks 2001 (H) {published data only}

Sacks FM, Svetkey LR, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER, Simons-Morton DG, Karanja N, Lin PH. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet. *N Engl J Med* 2001;**344**:3–10.

Sacks 2001 (N) {published data only}

Sacks FM, Svetkey LR, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER, Simons-Morton DG, Karanja N, Lin PH. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the dietary approaches to stop hypertension (DASH) diet. *N Engl J Med* 2001;**323**:42–46.

Schorr 1996 {published data only}

Schorr U, Distler A, Sharma AM. Effect of sodium chlorideand sodium bicarbonate-rich mineral water on blood pressure and metabolic parameters in elderly normotensive individuals: a randomized double-blind crossover trial. *J Hypertens* 1996;14:131–5.

Silman 1983 {published data only}

Silman AJ, Locke C, Mitchell P, Humpherson P. Evaluation of the effectiveness of a low sodium diet in the treatment of mild to moderate hypertension. *Lancet* 1983;1:1179–82.

Swift 2005 {published data only}

Swift PA, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, He FJ, MacGregor GA. Modest salt reduction reduces blood pressure and urine protein excretion in black hypertensives. *Hypertension* 2005;**46**:308–312.

TOHPRG 1992 {published data only}

The Trials of Hypertension Prevention Collaborative Research Group. The effects of nonpharmarmacologic interventions on blood pressure of persons with high normal levels: results of the Trials of Hypertension Prevention, phase I. *JAMA* 1992;**267**:1213–20.

TOHPRG 1997 {published data only}

The Trials of Hypertension Prevention Collaborative Research Group. Effect of weight loss and sodium reduction intervention on blood pressure and hypertension incidence in overweight people with high-normal blood pressure. The Trials of Hypertension Prevention, Phase II. *Arch Intern Med* 1997;**157**:657–67.

Watt 1983 {published data only}

Watt GCM, Edward C, Hart JT, Heart M, Walton P, Foy CJW. Dietary sodium restriction for mild hypertension in general practice. *BMJ* 1983;**286**:432–6.

Watt 1985 (HH) {published data only}

Watt GC, Foy CJ, Hart JT, Bingham G, Edwards C, Hart M, Thomas E, Walton P. Dietary sodium and arterial blood pressure: evidence against genetic susceptibility. *BMJ* 1985;**291**:1525–8.

Watt 1985 (LL) {published data only}

Watt GC, Foy CJ, Hart JT, Bingham G, Edwards C, Hart M, Thomas E, Walton P. Dietary sodium and arterial blood pressure: evidence against genetic susceptibility. *BMJ* 1985;**291**:1525–8.

References to studies excluded from this review

Ambrosioni 1982

Ambrosioni E, Costa FV, Borghi C, Montebugnoli L, Giordani MF, Magnani B. Effects of moderate salt restriction on intralymphocytic sodium and pressor response to stress in borderline hypertension. *Hypertension* 1982;4:789–94.

Ames 2001

Ames RP. The effect of sodium supplementation on glucose tolerance and insulin concentrations in patients with hypertension and diabetes mellitus. *Am J Hypertens* 2001;**14**:653–9.

Andersson 1984

Andersson OK, Fagerberg B, Hedner T. Importance of dietary salt in the hemodynamic adjustment to weight reduction in obese hypertensive men. *Hypertension* 1984;**6**:814–9.

Appel 2003

Appel LJ, Champagne CM, Harsha DW, Cooper LS, Obarzanek E, Elmer PJ, Stevens VJ, Vollmer WM, Lin PH, Svetkey LP, Stedman SW, Young DR, Writing Group of the PREMIER Collaborative Research Group. Effects of comprehensive lifestyle modification on blood pressure control: main results of the PREMIER clinical trial. *JAMA* 2003;**289**:2083–93.

Applegate 1992

Applegate WB, Miller ST, Elam JT, Cushman WC, el Derwi D, Brewer A, Graney MJ. Nonpharmacologic intervention to reduce blood pressure in older patients with mild hypertension. *Arch Intern Med* 1992;**152**:1162–6.

Arroll 1995

Arroll B, Beaglehole R. Salt restriction and physical activity in treated hypertensives. *N Z Med J* 1995;**108**:266–8.

Barba 2000

Barba G, Vallance PJ, Strazzullo P, MacAllister RJ. Effects of sodium intake on the pressor and renal responses to nitric oxide synthesis inhibition in normotensive individuals with different sodium sensitivity. *J Hypertens* 2000;**18**:615–21.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Beard 1982

Beard TC, Cooke HM, Gray WR, Barge R. Randomised controlled trial of a no-added-sodium diet for mild hypertension. *Lancet* 1982; **2**:455–8.

Beckmann 1995

Beckmann SL, Os I, Kjeldsen SE, Eide IK, Westheim AS, Hjermann I. Effect of dietary counselling on blood pressure and arterial plasma catecholamines in primary hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 1995;**8**: 704–11.

Bruun 1990

Bruun NE, Skott P, Damkjaer Nielsen M, Rasmussen S, Schutten HJ, Leth A, Pedersen EB, Giese J. Normal renal tubular response to changes of sodium intake in hypertensive man. *J Hypertens* 1990;**8**: 219–27.

Buckley 1994

Buckley MG, Markandu ND, Sagnella GA, MacGregor GA. Brain and atrial natriuretic peptides: a dual peptide system of potential importance in sodium balance and blood pressure regulation in patients with essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* 1994;**12**:809–13.

Burnier 1993

Burnier M, Rutschmann B, Nussberger J, Versaggi J, Shahinfar S, Waeber B, Brunner HR. Salt-dependent renal effects of an angiotensin II antagonist in healthy subjects. *Hypertension* 1993;**22**: 339–47.

Carney 1991

Carney SL, Gillies AH, Smith AJ, Smitham S. Increased dietary sodium chloride in patients treated with antihypertensive drugs. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 1991;**13**:401–7.

Cooper 1984

Cooper R, Van Horn L, Liu K, Trevisan M, Nanas S, Ueshima H, Larbi E, Yu CS, Sempos C, LeGrady D, Stamler J. A randomized trial on the effect of decreased dietary sodium intake on blood pressure in adolescents. *J Hypertens* 1984;**2**:361–6.

Costa 1981

Costa FV, Ambrosioni E, Montebugnoli L, Paccaloni L, Vasconi L, Magnani B. Effects of a low-salt diet and of acute salt loading on blood pressure and intralymphocytic sodium concentration in young subjects with borderline hypertension. *Clin Sci* 1981;**61 (Suppl 7)**: 21s–23s.

Cuzzola 2001

Cuzzola F, Mallamaci F, Tripepi G, Parlongo S, Cutrupi S, Cataliotti A, Stancanelli B, Malatino L, Bellanuova I, Ferri C, Galletti F, Filigheddu F, Glorioso N, Strazzullo P, Zoccali C. Urinary adrenomedullin is related to ET-1 and salt intake in patients with mild essential hypertension. Salt Sensitivity Group of Italian Society of Hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 2001;**14**:224–30.

Damasceno 1999

Damasceno A, Santos A, Serrao P, Caupers P, Soares-da-Silva P, Polonia J. Deficiency of renal dopaminergic-dependent natriuretic response to acute sodium load in black salt-sensitive subjects in contrast to salt-resistant subjects. *J Hypertens* 1999;**17**:1995–2001.

Davrath 1999

Davrath LR, Gotshall RW, Tucker A, Sadeh WZ, Luckasen GJ, Downes TR, Coonts CC. Moderate sodium restriction does not alter lower body negative pressure tolerance. *Aviat Space Environ Med* 1999;**70**:577–82.

Del Rio 1993

Del Rio A, Rodriguez-Villamil JL. Metabolic effects of strict salt restriction in essential hypertensive patients. *J Intern Med* 1993;**233**: 409–14.

Delemarre 2000

Delemarre FM, Steegers EA. Dietary sodium restriction in rats and human beings. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2000;**182**:1647–8.

Dimsdale 1990

Dimsdale JE, Ziegler M, Mills P, Berry C. Prediction of salt sensitivity. *Am J Hypertens* 1990;**3**:429–35.

Dodson 1989

Dodson PM, Beevers M, Hallworth R, Webberley MJ, Fletcher RF, Taylor KG. Sodium restriction and blood pressure in hypertensive type II diabetics: randomised blind controlled and crossover studies of moderate sodium restriction and sodium supplementation. *BMJ* 1989;**298**:227–30.

Donovan 1993

Donovan DS, Solomon CG, Seely EW, Williams GH, Simonson DC. Effect of sodium intake on insulin sensitivity. *Am J Physiol* 1993; **264**:E730–4.

Egan 1991

Egan BM, Weder AB, Petrin J, Hoffman RG. Neurohumoral and metabolic effects of short-term dietary NaCl restriction in men. Relationship to salt-sensitivity status. *Am J Hypertens* 1991;4:416–21.

el Ashry 1987

el Ashry A, Heagerty AM, Alton SM, Bing RF, Swales JD, Thurston H. Effects of manipulation of sodium balance on erythrocyte sodium transport. *J Hum Hypertens* 1987;**1**:105–11.

Fagerberg 1984

Fagerberg B, Andersson OK, Isaksson B, Bjorntorp P. Blood pressure control during weight reduction in obese hypertensive men: separate effects of sodium and energy restriction. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1984; **288**:11–4.

Feldman 1996

Feldman RD, Logan AG, Schmidt ND. Dietary salt restriction increases vascular insulin resistance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1996;**60**: 444–51.

Ferri 1993

Ferri C, Di Francesco L, Baldoncini R, Bellini C, Desideri G, Carlomagno A, De Siati L, Santucci A, Balsano F. [Sodium-modulating hormones and the pressor response to sodium chloride in essential arterial hypertension]. *Ann Ital Med Int* 1993;**8**:89–94.

Ferri 1996

Ferri C, Bellini C, Carlomagno A, Desideri G, Santucci A. Active kallikrein response to changes in sodium-chloride intake in essential hypertensive patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1996;7:443–53.

Fliser 1993

Fliser D, Nowack R, Allendorf-Ostwald N, Kohl B, Hubinger A, Ritz E. Serum lipid changes on low salt diet. Effects of alpha 1-adrenergic blockade. *Am J Hypertens* 1993;**6**:320–4.

Forrester 2005

Forrester T, Adeyemo A, Soarres-Wynter S, Sargent L, Bennett F, Wilks R, Luke A, Prewitt E, Kramer H, Cooper RS. A randomized trial on sodium reduction in two developing countries. *J Hum Hypertens* 2005;**19**:55–60.

Friberg 1990

Friberg P, Meredith I, Jennings G, Lambert G, Fazio V, Esler M. Evidence for increased renal norepinephrine overflow during sodium restriction in humans. *Hypertension* 1990;**16**:121–30.

Fuchs 1987

Fuchs FD, Wannmacher CM, Wannmacher L, Guimaraes FS, Rosito GA, Gastaldo G, Hoeffel CP, Wagner EM. Effect of sodium intake on blood pressure, serum levels and renal excretion of sodium and potassium in normotensives with and without familial predisposition to hypertension. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 1987;**20**:25–34.

Gillum 1981

Gillum RF, Elmer PJ, Prineas RJ. Changing sodium intake in children. The Minneapolis Children's Blood Pressure Study. *Hypertension* 1981;**3**:698–703.

Gomi 1998

Gomi T, Shibuya Y, Sakurai J, Hirawa N, Hasegawa K, Ikeda T. Strict dietary sodium reduction worsens insulin sensitivity by increasing sympathetic nervous activity in patients with primary hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 1998;**11**:1048–55.

Gow 1992

Gow IF, Dockrell M, Edwards CR, Elder A, Grieve J, Kane G, Padfield PL, Waugh CJ, Williams BC. The sensitivity of human blood platelets to the aggregating agent ADP during different dietary sodium intakes in healthy men. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1992;**43**:635–

Grey 1996

Grey A, Braatvedt G, Holdaway I. Moderate dietary salt restriction does not alter insulin resistance or serum lipids in normal men. *Am J Hypertens* 1996;**9**:317–22.

Hargreaves 1989

Hargreaves M, Morgan TO, Snow R, Guerin M. Exercise tolerance in the heat on low and normal salt intakes. *Clin Sci* 1989;**76**:553–7.

Haythornthwaite 1992

Haythornthwaite JA, Pratley RE, Anderson DE. Behavioral stress potentiates the blood pressure effects of a high sodium intake. *Psychosom Med* 1992;**54**:231–9.

Heagerty 1986

Heagerty AM, Alton SM, el-Ashry A, Bing RF, Thurston H, Swales JD. Effects of changes in sodium balance on leucocyte sodium transport: qualitative differences in normotensive offspring of hypertensives and matched controls. *J Hypertens* 1986;4:333–7.

Hofman 1983

Hofman A, Hazebroek A, Valkenburg HA. A randomized trial of sodium intake and blood pressure in newborn infants. *JAMA* 1983; **250**:370–3.

Howe 1991

Howe PR, Cobiac L, Smith RM. Lack of effect of short-term changes in sodium intake on blood pressure in adolescent schoolchildren. J Hypertens 1991;9:181–6.

HPTRG 1990

Hypertension Prevention Trial Research Group. The Hypertension Prevention Trial: three-year effects of dietary changes on blood pressure. *Arch Intern Med* 1990;**150**:153–62.

Inoue 1996

Inoue J, Cappuccio FP, Sagnella GA, Markandu ND, Folkerd EJ, Sampson B, Miller MA, Blackwood AM, MacGregor GA. Glucose load and renal sodium handling in mild essential hypertension on different sodium intakes. *J Hum Hypertens* 1996;10:523–9.

Jula 1990

Jula A, Ronnemaa T, Rastas M, Karvetti RL, Maki J. Long-term nopharmacological treatment for mild to moderate hypertension. *J Intern Med* 1990;**227**:413–21.

Jula 1992

Jula AM, Ronnemaa TE, Piha SJ, Maki JP. Response of diastolic blood pressure to long-term sodium restriction is posture related. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1992;**52**:159–67.

Koolen 1984 (a)

Koolen MI, van Brummelen P. Sodium sensitivity in essential hypertension: role of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and predictive value of an intravenous frusemide test. *J Hypertens* 1984;**2**:55–9.

Koolen 1984 (b)

Koolen MI, van Brummelen P. Adrenergic activity and peripheral hemodynamics in relation to sodium sensitivity in patients with essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 1984;**6**:820–5.

Koopman 1990 (a)

Koopman H, Spreeuwenberg C, Westerman RF, Donker AJ. Dietary treatment of patients with mild to moderate hypertension in a general practice: a pilot intervention study (1). The first three months. *J Hum Hypertens* 1990;4:368–71.

Koopman 1990 (b)

Koopman H, Spreeuwenberg C, Westerman RF, Donker AJ. Dietary treatment of patients with mild to moderate hypertension in a general practice: a pilot intervention study (2). Beyond three months. *J Hum Hypertens* 1990;4:372–4.

Kurtz 1987

Kurtz TW, Al-Bander HA, Morris RC Jr. "Salt-sensitive" essential hypertension in men. Is the sodium ion alone important?. *N Engl J Med* 1987;**317**:1043–8.

Lawton 1988

Lawton WJ, Sinkey CA, Fitz AE, Mark AL. Dietary salt produces abnormal renal vasoconstrictor responses to upright posture in borderline hypertensive subjects. *Hypertension* 1988;11:529–36.

Logan 1986

Logan AG. Sodium manipulation in the management of hypertension. The view against its general use. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 1986; **64**:793–802.

Luft 1990

Luft FC, Zemel MB, Sowers JA, Fineberg NS, Weinberger MH. Sodium bicarbonate and sodium chloride: effects on blood pressure and electrolyte homeostasis in normal and hypertensive man. *J Hypertens* 1990;**8**:663–70.

MacGregor 1987

MacGregor GA, Markandu ND, Singer DR, Cappuccio FP, Shore AC, Sagnella GA. Moderate sodium restriction with angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor in essential hypertension: a double blind study. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 1987;**294**:531–4.

Mallamaci 1996

Mallamaci F, Leonardis D, Bellizzi V, Zoccali C. Does high salt intake cause hyperfiltration in patients with essential hypertension?. *J Hum Hypertens* 1996;**10**:157–61.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Manunta 2001

Manunta P, Messaggio E, Ballabeni C, Sciarrone MT, Lanzani C, Ferrandi M, Hamlyn JM, Cusi D, Galletti F, Bianchi G. Salt Sensitivity Study Group of the Italian Society of Hypertension. Plasma ouabainlike factor during acute and chronic changes in sodium balance in essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 2001;**38**:198–203.

Mark 1975

Mark AL, Lawton WJ, Abboud FM, Fitz AE, Connor WE, Heistad DD. Effects of high and low sodium intake on arterial pressure and forearm vasular resistance in borderline hypertension. A preliminary report. *Circ Res* 1975;**36** (6 Suppl 1):194–8.

Mattila 2003

Mattila R, Malmivaara A, Kastarinen M, Kivela SL, Nissinen A. Effectiveness of multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention for hypertension: a randomised controlled trial. *J Hum Hypertens* 2003;17:199–205.

Maxwell 1984

Maxwell MH, Kushiro T, Dornfeld LP, Tuck ML, Waks AU. BP changes in obese hypertensive subjects during rapid weight loss. Comparison of restricted v unchanged salt intake. *Arch Intern Med* 1984;**144**:1581–4.

McCarron 1997

McCarron DA, Weder AB, Egan BM, Krishna GG, Morris CD, Cohen M, Oparil S. Blood pressure and metabolic responses to moderate sodium restriction in isradipine-treated hypertensive patients. *Am J Hypertens* 1997;**10**:68–76.

Miller 1988

Miller JZ, Weinberger MH, Daugherty SA, Fineberg NS, Christian JC, Grim CE. Blood pressure response to dietary sodium restriction in healthy normotensive children. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1988;47:113–9.

Miller 1997

Miller JA. Renal responses to sodium restriction in patients with early diabetes mellitus. *J Am Soc Nephrol* 1997;**8**:749–55.

Morgan 1978

Morgan T, Adam W, Gillies A, Wilson M, Morgan G, Carney S. Hypertension treated by salt restriction. *Lancet* 1978;1:227–30.

Morgan 1988

Morgan T, Anderson A. Interaction in hypertensive man between sodium intake, converting enzyme inhibitor (enalapril), plasma renin and blood pressure control. *J Hum Hypertens* 1988;**1**:311–5.

Mtabaji 1990

Mtabaji JP, Nara Y, Yamori Y. The cardiac study in Tanzania: salt intake in the causation and treatment of hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens* 1990;4:80–1.

Muhlhauser 1996

Muhlhauser I, Prange K, Sawicki PT, Bender R, Dworschak A, Schaden W, Berger M. Effects of dietary sodium on blood pressure in IDDM patients with nephropathy. *Diabetologia* 1996;**39**:212–219.

Myers 1983

Myers J, Morgan T. The effect of sodium intake on the blood pressure related to age and sex. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 1983;**A5**:99–118.

Nakamura 2003

Nakamura M, Aoki N, Yamada T, Kubo N. Feasibility and effect on blood pressure of 6-week trial of low sodium soy sauce and miso (fermented soybean paste). *Circ J* 2003;**67**:530–4.

Nowson 1988

Nowson CA, Morgan TO. Change in blood pressure in relation to change in nutrients effected by manipulation of dietary sodium and potassium. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 1988;**15**:225–42.

Nowson 2003

Nowson CA, Morgan TO, Gibbons C. Decreasing dietary sodium while following a self-selected potassium-rich diet reduces blood pressure. *J Nutr* 2003;**133**:4118–23.

Nowson 2004

Nowson CA, Worsley A, Margerison C, Jorna MK, Frame AG, Torres SJ, Godfrey SJ. Blood pressure response to dietary modifications in free-living individuals. *J Nutr* 2004;**134**:2322–9.

Overlack 1993

Overlack A, Ruppert M, Kolloch R, Gobel B, Kraft K, Diehl J, Schmitt W, Stumpe KO. Divergent hemodynamic and hormonal responses to varying salt intake in normotensive subjects. *Hypertension* 1993;**22**:331–8.

Overlack 1995

Overlack A, Ruppert M, Kolloch R, Kraft K, Stumpe KO. Age is a major determinant of the divergent blood pressure responses to varying salt intake in essential hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 1995;**8**: 829–36.

Palacios 2004

Palacios C, Wigertz K, Martin BR, Jackman L, Pratt JH, Peacock M, McCabe G, Weaver CM. Sodium retention in black and white female adolescents in response to salt intake. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2004;**89**:1858–63.

Palmer 1989

Palmer RM, Osterweil D, Loon-Lustig G, Stern N. The effect of dietary salt ingestion on blood pressure of old-old subjects. A doubleblind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 1989;**37**: 931–6.

Parker 1990

Parker M, Puddey IB, Beilin LJ, Vandongen R. Two-way factorial study of alcohol and salt restriction in treated hypertensive men. *Hypertension* 1990;**16**:398–406.

Pedersen 1986

Pedersen KE, Jest P, Klitgaard NA, Rokkedal Nielsen J, Johansen T. Effect of oral salt loading on blood pressure and lymphocyte sodium metabolism in borderline hypertension. *Acta Med Scand* 1986;**714** (**Suppl**):81–5.

Petrie 1998

Petrie JR, Morris AD, Minamisawa K, Hilditch TE, Elliott HL, Small M, McConnell J. Dietary sodium restriction impairs insulin sensitivity in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1998;**83**:1552–7.

Pomeranz 2002

Pomeranz A, Dolfin T, Korzets Z, Eliakim A, Wolach B. Increased sodium concentrations in drinking water increase blood pressure in neonates. *J Hypertens* 2002;**20**:203–7.

Redon-Mas 1994

Redon-Mas J, Abellan-Aleman J, Aranda-Lara P, de la Figuera-von Wichmann M, Luque-Otero M, Rodicio-Diaz JL, Ruilope-Urioste LM, Velasco-Quintana J. The VERSAL Study Group. Antihypertensive activity of verapamil: impact of dietary sodium. *J Hypertens* 1993;**11**:665–71.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Richards 1986

Richards AM, Tonolo G, Cleland JG, Leckie BJ, McIntyre GD, Ingram M, Dargie HJ, Ball SG, Robertson JI. Plasma atrial natriuretic peptide: responses to modest and severe sodium restriction. *J Hypertens (Suppl)* 1986;4:S559–63.

Ruilope 1993

Ruilope LM, Lahera V. Influence of salt intake on the antihypertensive effect of carvedilol. *J Hypertens Suppl* 1993;**11**:S17–9.

Ruppert 1991

Ruppert M, Diehl J, Kolloch R, Overlack A, Kraft K, Gobel B, Hittel N, Stumpe KO. Short-term dietary sodium restriction increases serum lipids and insulin in salt-sensitive and salt-resistant normotensive adults. *Klin Wochenschr* 1991;**69** (**Suppl 25**):51–7.

Ruppert 1994

Ruppert M, Overlack A, Kolloch R, Kraft K, Lennarz M, Stumpe KO. Effects of severe and moderate salt restriction on serum lipids in nonobese normotensive adults. *Am J Med Sci* 1994;**307 (Suppl 1)**: S87–90.

Schmid 1990

Schmid M, Mann JF, Stein G, Herter M, Nussberger J, Klingbeil A, Ritz E. Natriuresis-pressure relationship in polycystic kidney disease. *J Hypertens* 1990;**8**:277–83.

Schorr 1997

Schorr U, Beige J, Ringel J, Turan S, Kreutz R, Distler A, Sharma AM. Hpa II polymorphism of the atrial natriuretic peptide gene and the blood pressure response to salt intake in normotensive men. *J Hypertens* 1997;**15**:715–8.

Sciarrone 1992

Sciarrone SE, Beilin LJ, Rouse IL, Rogers PB. A factorial study of salt restriction and a low-fat/high-fibre diet in hypertensive subjects. *J Hypertens* 1992;**10**:287–98.

Sharma 1990

Sharma AM, Arntz HR, Kribben A, Schattenfroh S, Distler A. Dietary sodium restriction: adverse effect on plasma lipids. *Klin Wochenschr* 1990;**68**:664–8.

Sharma 1991

Sharma AM, Ruland K, Spies KP, Distler A. Salt sensitivity in young normotensive subjects is associated with a hyperinsulinemic response to oral glucose. *J Hypertens* 1991;**9**:329–35.

Sharma 1993

Sharma AM, Schorr U, Distler A. Insulin resistance in young saltsensitive normotensive subjects. *Hypertension* 1993;**21**:273–9.

Shore 1988

Shore AC, Markandu ND, MacGregor GA. A randomized crossover study to compare the blood pressure response to sodium loading with and without chloride in patients with essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* 1988;**6**:613–7.

Sinaiko 1993

Sinaiko AR, Gomez-Marin O, Prineas RJ. Effect of low sodium diet or potassium supplementation on adolescent blood pressure. *Hypertension* 1993;**21**:989–94.

Singer 1991

Singer DR, Markandu ND, Sugden AL, Miller MA, MacGregor GA. Sodium restriction in hypertensive patients treated with a converting enzyme inhibitor and a thiazide. *Hypertension* 1991;**17**:798–803.

Skrabal 1981

Skrabal F, Aubock J, Hortnagl H. Low sodium/high potassium diet for prevention of hypertension: probable mechanisms of action. *Lancet* 1981;**2**:895–900.

Skrabal 1984

Skrabal F, Herholz H, Neumayr M, Hamberger L, Ledochowski M, Sporer H, Hortnagl H, Schwarz S, Schonitzer D. Salt sensitivity in humans is linked to enhanced sympathetic responsiveness and to enhanced proximal tubular reabsorption. *Hypertension* 1984;**6**:152– 8.

Skrabal 1985

Skrabal F, Hamberger L, Cerny E. Salt sensitivity in normotensives with and salt resistance in normotensives without heredity of hypertension. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* 1985;**176 (Suppl)**:47–57.

Steegers 1991

Steegers EA, Van Lakwijk HP, Jongsma HW, Fast JH, De Boo T, Eskes TK, Hein PR. (Patho)physiological implications of chronic dietary sodium restriction during pregnancy; a longitudinal prospective randomized study. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 1991;**98**:980–7.

Sullivan 1980

Sullivan JM, Ratts TE, Taylor JC, Kraus DH, Barton BR, Patrick DR, Reed SW. Hemodynamic effects of dietary sodium in man: a preliminary report. *Hypertension* 1980;**2**:506–14.

Takashashi 2003

Takashashi Y, Sasaki S, Takahashi M, Okubo S, Hayashi M, Tsugane S. A population-based dietary intervention trial in a high-risk area for stomach cancer and stroke: changes in intakes and related biomarkers. *Prev Med* 2003;**37**:432–41.

Teow 1985

Teow BH, Di Nicolantonio R, Morgan TO. Sodium chloride preference and recognition threshold in normotensive subjects on high and low salt diet. *Clin Exp Hypertens* 1985-86;**A7**:1681–95.

Thaler 1982

Thaler BI, Paulin JM, Phelan EL, Simpson FO. A pilot study to test the feasibility of salt restriction in a community. *N Z Med J* 1982; **95**:839–42.

van BergeLandry 2004

van Berge-Landry H, James GD. Serum electrolyte, serum protein, serum fat and renal responses to a dietary sodium challenge: allostasis and allostatic load. *Ann Hum Biol* 2004;**31**:477–87.

van Paassen 1996

van Paassen P, de Zeeuw D, Navis G, de Jong PE. Does the reninangiotensin system determine the renal and systemic hemodynamic response to sodium in patients with essential hypertension?. *Hypertension* 1996;**27**:202–8.

Wedler 1992

Wedler B, Brier ME, Wiersbitzky M, Gruska S, Wolf E, Kallwellis R, Aronoff GR, Luft FC. Sodium kinetics in salt-sensitive and salt-resistant normotensive and hypertensive subjects. *J Hypertens* 1992; **10**:663–9.

Weir 1995

Weir MR, Dengel DR, Behrens MT, Goldberg AP. Salt-induced increases in systolic blood pressure affect renal hemodynamics and proteinuria. *Hypertension* 1995;**25**:1339–44.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\text{\scriptsize C}}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Weir 1997

Weir MR, Hall PS, Behrens MT, Flack JM. Salt and blood pressure responses to calcium antagonism in hypertensive patients. *Hypertension* 1997;**30**:422–7.

Whelton 1998

Whelton PK, Appel LJ, Espeland MA, Applegate WB, Ettinger WH Jr, Kostis JB, Kumanyika S, Lacy CR, Johnson KC, Folmar S, Cutler JA. TONE Collaborative Research Group. Sodium reduction and weight loss in the treatment of hypertension in older persons: a randomized controlled trial of nonpharmacologic interventions in the elderly (TONE). *JAMA* 1998;**279**:839–46.

Whitten 1980

Whitten CF, Stewart RA. The effect of dietary sodium in infancy on blood pressure and related factors. Studies of infants fed salted and unsalted diets for five months at eight months and eight years of age. *Acta Paediatr Scand Suppl* 1980;**279**:1–17.

Zoccali 1993

Zoccali C, Mallamaci F, Leonardis D, Romeo M. Randomly allocated crossover study of various levels of sodium intake in patients with mild hypertension. *J Hypertens* 1993;**11** (Suppl 5):S326–7.

Zoccali 1994

Zoccali C, Mallamaci F, Parlongo S. The influence of salt intake on plasma calcitonin gene-related peptide in subjects with mild essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* 1994;**12**:1249–53.

Additional references

Alderman 1995

Alderman MH, Madhaven S, Cohen H, Sealey JE, Laragh JH. Low urinary sodium is associated with greater risk of myocardial infarction among treated hypertensive men. *Hypertension* 1995;**25**:1144–1152.

Alderman 1998

Alderman MH, Cohen H, Madhaven S. Dietary sodium intake and mortality. The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES 1). *Lancet* 1998;**351**:781–785.

Antonios 1996

Antonios TF, MacGregor GA. Salt--more adverse effects. *Lancet* 1996;**348**:250–1.

Beevers 2004

Beevers DG, Lip GY, Blann AD. Salt intake and Helicobacter pylori infection. *J Hypertens* 2004;22:1475–7.

Cappuccio 1991

Cappuccio FP, MacGregor GA. Does potassium supplementation lower blood pressure? A meta-analysis of published trials. *J Hypertens* 1991;**9**:465–73.

Cappuccio 2000

Cappuccio FP, Kalaitzidis R, Duneclift S, Eastwood JB. Unravelling the links between calcium excretion, salt intake, hypertension, kidney stones and bone metabolism. *J Nephrol* 2000;**13**:169–77.

Cutler 1991

Cutler JA, Follmann D, Elliott P, Suh II. An overview of randomized trials of sodium reduction and blood pressure. *Hypertension* 1991;**17** (**suppl I**):I–27-33.

Cutler 1997

Cutler JA, Follmann D, Alleder PS. Randomized trials of sodium reduction: an overview. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1997;65 (suppl):643s–51s.

De Wardener 1998

De Wardener H, MacGregor GA. Sodium intake and mortality. Letter. *Lancet* 1998;**351**:1508.

De Wardener 1999

De Wardener H. Salt reduction and cardiovascular risk: the anatomy of a myth. *J Human Hypertens* 1999;**13**:1–4.

de Wardener 2002

de Wardener HE, MacGregor GA. Harmful effects of dietary salt in addition to hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens* 2002;**16**:213–23.

Denton 1995

Denton D, Weisinger R, Mundy NI, Wickings EJ, Dixson A, Moisson P, Pingard AM, Shade R, Carey D, Ardaillou R, Paillard F, Chapman J, Thillet J, Michel JB. The effect of increased salt intake on blood pressure of chimpanzees. *Nature Medicine* 1995;**1**:1009–16.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in metaanalysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 1997;**315**:629–34.

Elliott 1996

Elliott P, Stamler J, Nichols R, Dyer AR, Stamler R, Kesteloot H, Marmot M, for the Intersalt Cooperative Research Group. Intersalt revisited: further analyses of 24-hour sodium excretion and blood pressure within and across populations. *BMJ* 1996;**312**:1249–53.

Engelman 1998

Engelman K. Sodium intake and mortality. Letter. *Lancet* 1998;**351**: 1508.

Follmann 1992

Follmann D, Elliott P, Suh I, Cutler J. Variance imputation for overviews of clinical trials with continuous response. *J Clin Epidemiol* 1992;**45**:769–73.

Forte 1989

Forte JG, Pereira Miguel JM, Pereira Miguel MJ, de Padua F, Rose G. Salt and blood pressure: a community trial. *J Human Hypertens* 1989;**3**:179–84.

Geleijnse 1996

Geleijnse JM, Hofman A, Witteman JCM, Hazebroek AAJM, Valkenburg HA, Grobbee DE. Long-term effects of neonatal sodium restriction on blood pressure. *Hypertension* 1996;**29**:913–7.

Graudal 1998

Graudal NA, Galloe AM, Garred P. Effect of sodium restriction on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterols, and triglyceride: a meta-analysis. *JAMA* 1998;**279**:1383–91.

He 1999

He J, Ogden LG, Vupputuri S, Bazzano LA, Loria C, Whelton PK. Dietary sodium intake and subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease in overweight adults. *JAMA* 1999;**282**:2027–34.

He 2001

He FJ, Markandu ND, MacGregor GA. Importance of the renin system for determining blood pressure fall with acute salt restriction in hypertensive and normotensive Whites. *Hypertension* 2001;**38**: 321–5.

He 2003

He FJ, MacGregor GA. How far should salt intake be reduced?. *Hypertension* 2003;**42**:1093–9.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Hooper 2002

Hooper L, Bartlett C, Davey Smith G, Ebrahim S. Systematic review of long term effects of advice to reduce dietary salt in adults. *BMJ* 2002;**325**:628–32.

Joossens 1996

Joossens JV, Hill MJ, Elliott P, Stamler R, Lesaffre E, Dyer A, Nichols R, Kesteloot H. Dietary salt, nitrate and stomach cancer mortality in 24 countries. European Cancer Prevention (ECP) and the IN-TERSALT Cooperative Research Group. *Int J Epidemiol* 1996;**25**: 494–504.

Jula 1994

Jula AM, Karanko HM. Effects on left ventricular hypertrophy of long-term nonpharmacological treatment with sodium restriction in mild-to-moderate essential hypertension. *Circulation* 1994;**89**: 1023–31.

Jüni 2001

Jüni P, Altman DG, Egger M. Assessing the quality of controlled clinical trials. *BMJ* 2001;**323**:42–46.

Karppanen 1998

Karppanen H, Mervaala E. Sodium intake and mortality (Letter). *Lancet* 1998;**351**:1509.

Kupari 1994

Kupari M, Koskinen P, Virolainen J. Correlates of left ventricular mass in a population sample aged 36 to 37 years. Focus on lifestyle and salt intake. *Circulation* 1994;**89**:1041–50.

Law 1991

Law MR, Frost CD, Wald NJ. Analysis of data from trials of salt reduction. *BMJ* 1991;**302**:819–24.

Lifton 1996

Lifton RP. Molecular genetics of human blood pressure variations. *Science* 1996;**272**:676–80.

MacGregor 1996

MacGregor G. Low urinary sodium and myocardial infarction. Letter. *Hypertension* 1996;27:156.

MacMahon 1990

MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J, Abbott R, Godwin J, Dyer A, Stamler J. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. *Lancet* 1990;**335**:765–74.

Midgley 1996

Midgley JP, Matthew AG, Greenwood CM, Logan AG. Effect of reduced dietary sodium on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *JAMA* 1996;**275**:1590–1597.

Nagata 2004

Nagata C, Takatsuka N, Shimizu N, Shimizu H. Sodium intake and risk of death from stroke in Japanese men and women. *Stroke* 2004; **35**:1543–7.

Perry 1992

Perry IJ, Beevers DG. Salt intake and stroke: a possible direct effect. *J Hum Hypertens* 1992;**6**:23–5.

Petitti 2001

Petitti DB. Approaches to heterogeneity in meta-analysis. *Stat Med* 2001;**20**:3625–33.

Poulter 1990

Poulter N, Khaw KT, Hopwood BEC, Mugambi M, Peart WS, Rose G, Sever PS. The Kenyan Luo migration study: observations on the initiation of a rise in blood pressure. *BMJ* 1990;**300**:967–72.

PSC 2002

Prospective Studies Collaboration. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet* 2002; **360**:1903–13.

SACN 2003

Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition, Salt and health. 2003. The Stationery Office. Available at http://www.sacn.gov.uk/pdf/salt-final.pdf.

Safar 2000

Safar ME, Thuilliez C, Richard V, Benetos A. Pressure-independent contribution of sodium to large artery structure and function in hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res* 2000;**46**:269–76.

Staessen 1988

Staessen J, Bulpitt CJ, Fagard R, Joossens JV, Lijnen P, Amery A. Salt intake and blood pressure in the general population: a controlled intervention trial in two towns. *J Hypertens* 1988;6:965–73.

Stamler 1991

Stamler R. Implications of the INTERSALT study. *Hypertension* 1991;**17** (Suppl I):116–20.

Sterne 2001

Sterne JAC, Egger M, Davey Smith G. Investigating and dealing with publication and other biases. In: EggerM, Davey SmithG, AltmanDG editor(s). *Systematic Reviews in Health Care. Meta-analysis in Context.* BMJ Books, 2001:189–208.

Swales 2000

Swales J. Population advice on salt restriction: the social issues. *Am J Hypertens* 2000;**13**:2–7.

Taubes 1998

Taubes G. The (political) science of salt. Science 1998;281:898-907.

Tsugane 2004

Tsugane S, Sasazuki S, Kobayashi M, Sasaki S. Salt and salted food intake and subsequent risk of gastric cancer among middle-aged Japanese men and women. *Br J Cancer* 2004;**90**:128–34.

Tuomilehto 1984

Tuomilehto J, Puska P, Nissinen A, Salonen J, Tanskanen A, Pietinen P, Wolf E. Community-based prevention of hypertension in North Karelia, Finland. *Ann Clin Res* 1984;**16(Suppl 43)**:18–27.

Tuomilehto 2001

Tuomilehto J, Jousilahti P, Rastenyte D, Moltchanov V, Tanskanen A, Pietinen P. Urinary sodium excretion and cardiovascular mortality in Finland: a prospective study. *Lancet* 2001;**357**:848–51.

Whelton 2002

Whelton PK, He J, Appel LJ, Cutler JA, Havas S, Kotchen TA, Roccella EJ, Stout R, Vallbona C, Winston MC, Karimbakas J, National High Blood Pressure Education Program Coordinating Committee. Primary prevention of hypertension: clinical and public health advisory from The National High Blood Pressure Education Program. *JAMA* 2002;**288**:1882–1888.

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

WHO 2003

Joint WHO/FAO expert consultation on diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. 2003, Geneva. Available at http://www. who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/who_fao_experts_report.pdf.

References to other published versions of this review

He 2002

He FJ, MacGregor GA. Effect of modest salt reduction on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomised trials. Implications for public health. *J Human Hypertens* 2002;**16**:761–70.

TABLES

Characteristics of included studies

Study	ANHMRC 1989 (P)
Methods	DB
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=50
	Control: N=53
	Age: 58
	Male: 83%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -71 mmol/24h
	Duration: 8 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -5.5 mmHg
	DBP: -2.8 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	ANHMRC 1989 (X)
Methods	DB
Methods	X
Participants	N=88
1 ur tielpunto	Age: 59
	Male: 83%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -67 mmol/24h
	Duration: 8 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -3.6 mmHg
	DBP: -2.1 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Benetos 1992
Methods	DB
weinous	מע

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

	X
Participants	N=20
	Age: 42 (22-55)
	Male: 45%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -78 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -6.5 mmHg
	DBP: -3.7 mmHg
	Noradrenaline: 52 pg/ml
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Cappuccio 1997 (H)
Methods	DB
	Х
Participants	N=29
	Age: 67 (60-78)
	Male: 51%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -87 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -6.6 mmHg
	DBP: -2.7 mmHg
	PRA: 0.32 ng/ml/h
	Aldo: 77 pmol/l
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Cappuccio 1997 (N)
Methods	DB
	Х
Participants	N=18
	Age: 67 (60-78)
	Male: 51%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -76 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -8.2 mmHg
	DBP: -3.9 mmHg
	PRA: 0.36 ng/ml/h
	Aldo: 163 pmol/l
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Chalmers 1986	
Methods	BP obs (A)	
Effect of longer-te	erm modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)	

	P
Participants	Intervention: N=48
	Control: N=52
	Age: 52
	Male: 85%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -54 mmol/24h
	Duration: 12 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -5.1 mmHg
	DBP: -4.2 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Allocation concealment Study	B – Unclear Cobiac 1992
Study	Cobiac 1992
Study	Cobiac 1992 DB
Study Methods	Совіас 1992 DB Р
Study Methods	Cobiac 1992 DB P Intervention: N=26
Study Methods	Cobiac 1992 DB P Intervention: N=26 Control: N=28
Study Methods	Cobiac 1992 DB P Intervention: N=26 Control: N=28 Age: 67 (60-80)

Study	Erwteman 1984
Methods	BP obs (RZ)
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=44
	Control: N=50
	Age: 46 (20-70)
	Male: 62%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -58 mmol/24h
	Duration: 6 months
Outcomes	SBP: -2.7 mmHg
	DBP: -3.4 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Fotherby 1993
Methods	DB
	Х
Participants	N=17

Age: 73 (66-79) Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Duration: 4 wks SBP: -1.7 mmHg

DBP: 0.8 mmHg

Allocation concealment A – Adequate

Outcomes

Notes

	Male: 24% Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -79 mmol/24h Duration: 5 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: 0.0 mmHg PRA: 0.35 ng/ml/h Aldo: 475 pmol/l
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Gates 2004
Methods	DB
	Х
Participants	N=12
	Age: 64
	Male: 50%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -89 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -7.0 mmHg
	DBP: -1.0 mmHg
	PRA: 0.26 ng/ml/h
	Chol: 0.13 mmol/l
	Trig: -0.10 mmol/l
	LDL: 0.21 mmol/l
	HDL: -0.05 mmol/l
	Noradrenaline: -6.67 pg/ml
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Grobbee 1987
Methods	DB
	X
D · ·	

Methods	DB
	X
Participants	N=40
	Age: 18-28
	Male: 85%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -72 mmol/24h
	Duration: 6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -0.8 mmHg
	DBP: -0.8 mmHg
	Noradrenaline: 19 pg/ml
	Chol: 0.0 mg/dl
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Methods DB X Participants N=19 Age: 49 (30-66) Male: 59% Hypertensive Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: 5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Adle: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Adlo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Nores Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB X	
Participants N=19 Age: 49 (30-66) Male: 59% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A - Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Male: 59% Allocation concealment A - Adequate	
Age: 49 (30-66) Male: 59% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB x Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation concealment A – Adequate	
Male: 59% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB x Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldio: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate	
Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg DBP: -50 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/1 Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation concealment A – Adequate	
Interventions UNa: -76 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Allocation concealment A - Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DB: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 7 3 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A - Adequate Study MacGregor 1989	
Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate	
Outcomes SBP: -10.0 mmHg DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
DBP: -5.0 mmHg PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate	
PRA: 0.64 ng/ml/h Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Notes Aldo: 73 pmol/l Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Aldo: 156 pmol/l Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Notes Aldo: 73 pmol/l Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A - Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods Methods DB	
Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldio: 73 pmol/1 Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Adloc: 73 pmol/1 Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Study MacGregor 1989 Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Age: 55% Hypertensive Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation tope DB	
Methods DB X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Age: 55% Hypertensive Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment Allocation tope DB	
X Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/1 Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes A Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Participants N=20 Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Age: 56 (43-73) Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Norderenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Male: 55% Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Intervention concealment A – Adequate Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Hypertensive Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Image: Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Interventions UNa: -82 mmol/24h Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noredrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Duration: 4 wks Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Outcomes SBP: -8.0 mmHg DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
DBP: -5.1 mmHg PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noreadrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
PRA: 0.20 ng/ml/h Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Aldo: 73 pmol/l Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Noradrenaline: 97 pg/ml Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Notes Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Allocation concealment A – Adequate Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Study Mascioli 1991 Methods DB	
Methods DB	
Methods DB	
X	
A	
Participants N=48	
Age: 52	
Male: 79%	
Normotensive	
Interventions UNa: -20 mmol/8h	
Duration: 4 wks	

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Allocation concealment A – Adequate

SBP: -3.6 mmHg DBP: -2.3 mmHg

Outcomes

Notes

Study	Meland 1997
Methods	DB
	X
Participants	N=16
	Age: 50
	Male: 81%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -66 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -4.0 mmHg
	DBP: -2.0 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Morgan 1981 (F)
Methods	BP obs
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=6
	Control: N=6
	Age: 38
	Male: 0%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -78 mmol/24h
	Duration: 8 wks
Outcomes	DBP: -4.0 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Morgan 1981 (M)
Methods	BP obs
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=6
	Control: N=6
	Age: 40
	Male: 100%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -98 mmol/24h
	Duration: 8 wks
Outcomes	DBP: -8.0 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Nestel 1993 (F)
Methods	DB
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=15 Control: N=15

	Age: 65
	Male: 0%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -94 mmol/24h
	Duration: 6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -6.0 mmHg
	DBP: -2.0 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Nestel 1993 (M)
Methods	DB
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=17
	Control: N=19
	Age: 66
	Male: 100%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -76 mmol/24h
	Duration: 6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -2.0 mmHg
	DBP: -1.0 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
	D: 1072
Study	Parijs 1973

Study	
Methods	NR
	Х
Participants	N=15
	Age: 41
	Male: 43%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -98 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -6.7 mmHg
	DBP: 3.2 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Puska 1983 (H)
Methods	BP obs
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=15
	Control: N=19
	Age: 30-50
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -117 mmol/24h

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

	Duration: 6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: 1.8 mmHg DBP: 0.5 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Puska 1983 (N)
Methods	BP obs
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=19
	Control: N=19
	Age: 30-50
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -117 mmol/24h
	Duration: 6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -1.5 mmHg
	DBP: -2.1 mmHg
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Richards 1984
Methods	BP obs (A)
	Х
Participants	N=12
	Age: 19-52
	Male: 67%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -105 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4-6 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -5.2 mmHg
	DBP: -1.8 mmHg
	PRA: 0.40 ng/ml/h
	Aldo: 112 pmol/l
	Noradrenaline: 24 pg/ml
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Ruppert 1993	
Methods	DB	
	X	
Participants	N=25	
	Age: 47 (27-75)	
	Male: 40%	
	Normotensive	
Interventions	UNa: -118 mmol/24h	
	Duration: 4 wks	
Outcomes	SBP: 1.7 mmHg	
	DBP: 1.0 mmHg	

	PRA: 0.60 ng/ml/h
	Noradrenaline: 79 pg/ml
	Chol: 0.0 mg/dl
	Trig: -4.9 mg/dl
	LDL 4.8 mg/dl
	HDL -1.5 mg/dl
Notes	Variance imputed
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Sacks 2001 (H)
Methods	BP obs (RZ)
	X
Participants	N=76
	Age: 52
	Male: 39%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -80 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -8.7 mmHg
	DBP: -4.5 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Sacks 2001 (N)
Methods	BP obs (RZ)
	Х
Participants	N=116
	Age: 47
	Male: 50%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -75 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -5.3 mmHg
	DBP: -2.6 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Schorr 1996
Methods	DB
	X
Participants	N=16
	Age: 64 (60-72)
	Male: 48%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -71 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -7.2 mmHg
_	DBP: -2.9 mmHg

PRA: 0.23 ng/ml/h Aldo: 10 pmol/l Chol: 5.0 mg/dl Trig: 17.0 mg/dl LDL: 7.0 mg/dl HDL: 3.0 mg/dl

Notes

Allocation concealment A – Adequate

Study	Silman 1983
Methods	BP obs (RZ)
	Р
Participants	Intervention: N=10
	Control: N=15
	Age: 50-64
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -53 mmol/24h
	Duration: 12 months
Outcomes	SBP: -8.7 mmHg
	DBP: -6.3 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Swift 2005
Methods	DB
	Х
Participants	N=40
	Age: 50
	Male: 43%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -78 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -8 mmHg
	DBP: -3 mmHg
	PRA: 0.07 ng/ml/h
	Aldo: 44 pmol/l
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	TOHPRG 1992
Methods	BP obs (RZ)
.	p
Participants	Intervention: N=327
	Control: N=417
	Age: 43 (30-54)
	Male: 71%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -44 mmol/24h

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2006 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

	Duration: 18 months
Outcomes	SBP: -1.7 mmHg
	DBP: -0.9 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
	1
Study	TOHPRG 1997
Methods	BP obs (RZ) P
Participants	Intervention: N=515
	Control: N=514
	Age: 44 (30-54)
	Male: 67%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -40 mmol/24h
-	Duration: 36 months
Outcomes	SBP: -1.2 mmHg
	DBP: -0.7 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Watt 1983
Methods	DB X
Participants	N=18
1	Age: 52 (31-64)
	Male: 33%
	Hypertensive
Interventions	UNa: -56 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -0.5 mmHg
	DBP: -0.3 mmHg
	PRA: 1.63 ng/ml/h
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Watt 1985 (HH)
-	
Methods	DB
Participants	X N=35
Participants	N=55 Age: 22
	Male: 37%
	Normotensive
	UNa: -74 mmol/24h
Interventions	
Interventions	Duration: 4 wks
Interventions Outcomes	Duration: 4 wks SBP: -1.4 mmHg

Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate
Study	Watt 1985 (LL)
Methods	DB
	X
Participants	N=31
	Age: 23
	Male: 45%
	Normotensive
Interventions	UNa: -60 mmol/24h
	Duration: 4 wks
Outcomes	SBP: -0.5 mmHg
	DBP: 1.4 mmHg
Notes	
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

UNa: urinary sodium; BP: blood pressure; X: crossover; SBP: systolic blood pressure; DBP: diastolic blood pressure; P: parallel; NR: Not reported; DB: Double blind; BP obs: blood pressure observer blinded; RZ: random zero manometer; A: automated sphygmomanometer; F: Female; M: Male; H: Hypertensive; N: Normotensive; HH: offspring of two parents with high blood pressure; LL: offspring of two parents with low blood pressure; PRA: plasma renin activity; Aldo: aldosterone; Chol: cholesterol; Trig: triglyceride; LDL: low-density lipoprotein; HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

Characteristics of excluded studies

Ambrosioni 1982	Urinary sodium not measured
Ames 2001	With concomitant intervention
Andersson 1984	With concomitant intervention
Appel 2003	With concomitant intervention
Applegate 1992	With concomitant intervention
Arroll 1995	With concomitant intervention
Barba 2000	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Beard 1982	With concomitant intervention
Beckmann 1995	With concomitant intervention
Bruun 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Buckley 1994	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Burnier 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Carney 1991	With concomitant intervention
Cooper 1984	Studies in children
Costa 1981	Urinary sodium not measured
Cuzzola 2001	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Damasceno 1999	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Davrath 1999	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Del Rio 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Delemarre 2000	Studies in pregnant women
Dimsdale 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Dodson 1989	With concomitant intervention

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Donovan 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Egan 1991	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Fagerberg 1984	With concomitant intervention
Feldman 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Ferri 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Ferri 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Fliser 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Forrester 2005	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Friberg 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Fuchs 1987	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Gillum 1981	Studies in children
Gomi 1998	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Gow 1992	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Grey 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
HPTRG 1990	Net reduction in 24-h urinary sodium less than 40 mmol
Hargreaves 1989	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Haythornthwaite 1992	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Heagerty 1986	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Hofman 1983	Studies in children
Howe 1991	Studies in children
Inoue 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Jula 1990	With concomitant intervention
Jula 1992	With concomitant intervention
Koolen 1984 (a)	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Koolen 1984 (b)	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Koopman 1990 (a)	With concomitant intervention
Koopman 1990 (b)	With concomitant intervention
Kurtz 1987	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Lawton 1988	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Logan 1986	Net reduction in 24-h urinary sodium less than 40 mmol
Luft 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
MacGregor 1987	With concomitant intervention
Mallamaci 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Manunta 2001	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Mark 1975	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Mattila 2003	With concomitant intervention
Maxwell 1984	With concomitant intervention
McCarron 1997	With concomitant intervention
Miller 1988	Studies in children
Miller 1997	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Morgan 1978	Net reduction in 24-h urinary sodium less than 40 mmol
Morgan 1988	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Mtabaji 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Muhlhauser 1996	With concomitant intervention

Nowson 198 With concomitant intervention Nowson 2003 With concomitant intervention Nowson 2004 With concomitant intervention Nowson 2005 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Overlack 1995 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Paticios 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pather 1980 Urinary sofium not measured Pather 1980 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pather 1980 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Verite 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Verite 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Verite 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Relands 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Namper 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schrind 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schrind 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schrind 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schrind 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Myers 1983	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Nowson 2003 With concomitant intervention Nowson 2004 With concomitant intervention Operlack 1995 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Overlack 1995 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palacies 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palmer 1989 Urinary softium nor measured Parker 1990 With concomitant intervention Sedersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Perrie 1988 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Romeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Nichards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Raulope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Stappert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schards 1996 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schards 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schards 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schards 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schards 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schares 199	Nakamura 2003	Urinary sodium not measured
Nowson 2004 With concomitant intervention Overlack 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Direkt 1995 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palmer 1989 Urinary solium not measured Parker 1996 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Parker 1996 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Perier 1996 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Perier 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Porteranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redor-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Redor-Mas 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rapper 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rapper 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1992 With concomitant increvention Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1	Nowson 1988	With concomitant intervention
Dverlack 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks 2bacios 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks 2blacios 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks 2blace 1789 With concomitant intervention 2edersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks 2bmer 1899 With concomitant intervention 2edersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks 2bmeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Schards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruliope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Suppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schnrid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schnrid 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schnrid 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Nowson 2003	With concomitant intervention
Overlack 1995 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palacios 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palmer 1989 Urinary sodium not measured Parker 1990 With concomitant intervention Pedersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pomeraza 2002 Studies in neonaes Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Sichards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Raulope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rulppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Suppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schord 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schord 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schord 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Singer 1991 With concomitant intervention Singer 1991 With concomitant intervention Singer 1991	Nowson 2004	With concomitant intervention
Palacios 2004 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Palmer 1989 Urinary sodium not measured Parker 1990 With concomitant intervention Pedresen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Petrie 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pomeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Redon-Mas 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rulper 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rulper 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schridt 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schron 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schron 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sciarrone 1992 With concomitant intervention Sciarrone 1992 With concomitant intervention Sharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sciarrone 1982 With concomitant intervention Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sinaiko 1993 <t< td=""><td>Overlack 1993</td><td>Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks</td></t<>	Overlack 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Palmer 1989 Urinary sodium not measured Parker 1990 With concomitant intervention Pedersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Porneranz 2002 Studies in neonates Parker 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Porneranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redor-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Richards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rulpper 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schort 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schort 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schort 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schartone 1992 With concomitant intervention Sharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1992 With concomitant intervention Sharma 1993 Studies in children Sinake 1988 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Shareal 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than	Overlack 1995	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Parker 1990 With concomitant intervention Pedersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Petrie 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Omentary 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Richards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruliope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schron 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schron 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharron 1992 With concomitant intervention Sharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Palacios 2004	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Pedersen 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Perrin 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pormeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Richards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Studiep 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Suppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharna 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharna 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Studies in children Singer 1991 With concomitant intervention Skrabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Palmer 1989	Urinary sodium not measured
Petric 1998 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Pomeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Kichards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruippet 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Suppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schwid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sinaiko 1993 Studies in children Sinaiko 1993 Studies in children Sinaiko 1993 Studies in dist reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sireadu 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Strabal 1	Parker 1990	With concomitant intervention
Pomeranz 2002 Studies in neonates Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Richards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Rulippe 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schorn 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Studies in children Sinaiko 1993 Studies in children Sinaika 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Siteagers 1991 Studies in pregnant women Sallivan 1980	Pedersen 1986	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Redon-Mas 1994 With concomitant intervention Richards 1986 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruilope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Studies in children Singer 1991 With concomitant intervention Krabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Steegers 1991 Studies in pregnant women	Petrie 1998	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Richards 1986Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksRuilope 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksRuppert 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksRuppert 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSchmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSchmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSchmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksScharna 1997Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksShare 1988Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1982With concomitant interventionWeit 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Pomeranz 2002	Studies in neonates
Ruilope 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1994 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schort 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Studies in children Singer 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sterabal 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Starbal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Starbal 1986 <td>Redon-Mas 1994</td> <td>With concomitant intervention</td>	Redon-Mas 1994	With concomitant intervention
Numper Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Ruppert 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schmid 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Schorr 1997 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1990 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Scharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1991 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Sharma 1993 Studies in children Singer 1991 With concomitant intervention Skrabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1981 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1984 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks Skrabal 1985 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Richards 1986	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
NumberNumper1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSchmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSciarrone 1992With concomitant interventionSharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinger 1994With concomitant interventionSinger 1995Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionReow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksChaler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksUnation of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteepers 1991Studies in childrenSoulies in childrenSoulies in childrenSoulies in childrenSoulies in childrenSocc	Ruilope 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Schmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSchmid 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSciarrone 1992With concomitant interventionSharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1986Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkreegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWeeler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWeir 1997With concomitant intervention	Ruppert 1991	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Schorr 1997Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSciarrone 1992With concomitant interventionSharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinako 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSullivan 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksTakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFew 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhithe 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1993Duratio	Ruppert 1994	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Sciarrone 1992With concomitant interventionSharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSterabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteraper 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFew 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks <td>Schmid 1990</td> <td>Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks</td>	Schmid 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
sharma 1990Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksStakshashi 2003With concomitant interventionFlaken 1982Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFlaken 1982With concomitant interventionRewel 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeiler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeit 1997With concomitant interventionWhiten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of s	Schorr 1997	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Sharma 1991Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksShore 1988Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksStakshabi 2003With concomitant interventionFlakshabi 2003With concomitant interventionRevelseDuration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFlakshabi 2003With concomitant interventionRevelseDuration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeiler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeil 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWheton 1998With concomitant interventionWheton 1998With concomitant interventionWhiten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	Sciarrone 1992	With concomitant intervention
Sharma 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksShore 1988Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksStegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFhaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhiten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration	Sharma 1990	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Shore 1988Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksTakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhetton 1998With concomitant interventionWattor 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZaccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZaccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZaccali	Sharma 1991	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Sinaiko 1993Studies in childrenSinger 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksStakashi 2003With concomitant interventionFeaw 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Dura	Sharma 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Singer 1991With concomitant interventionSkrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksTakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFeor 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhiten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksAshry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Shore 1988	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Skrabal 1981Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFeov 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFhaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1997Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLashry	Sinaiko 1993	Studies in children
Skrabal 1984Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSkrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksSteegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWork 1997Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksLoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Singer 1991	With concomitant intervention
Skrabal 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksScreegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeiler 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Skrabal 1981	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Steegers 1991Studies in pregnant womenSullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksFakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionFeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Skrabal 1984	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Sullivan 1980Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksTakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksran BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Skrabal 1985	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Fakashashi 2003With concomitant interventionTeow 1985Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksThaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Steegers 1991	Studies in pregnant women
Final actionFinal action of solution of the second solution soluti	Sullivan 1980	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Thaler 1982With concomitant interventionWedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksran BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Takashashi 2003	With concomitant intervention
Wedler 1992Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Teow 1985	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Weir 1995Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksWeir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Thaler 1982	With concomitant intervention
Weir 1997With concomitant interventionWhelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Wedler 1992	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Whelton 1998With concomitant interventionWhitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Weir 1995	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
Whitten 1980Studies in childrenZoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Weir 1997	With concomitant intervention
Zoccali 1993Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksZoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Whelton 1998	With concomitant intervention
Zoccali 1994Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksel Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Whitten 1980	Studies in children
el Ashry 1987Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeksvan BergeLandry 2004Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Zoccali 1993	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
van BergeLandry 2004 Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h	Zoccali 1994	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
	el Ashry 1987	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks
van Paassen 1996 Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks	van BergeLandry 2004	Extreme change in salt intake, uirnary sodium was changed from 309 to 24 mmol/24h
	van Paassen 1996	Duration of salt reduction less than 4 weeks

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. Search strate	egy to identify ra	andomised salt	reduction trials
-------------------------	--------------------	----------------	------------------

Set	Search terms
1	blood pressure
2	hypertension
3	plasma renin activity
4	renin
5	PRA
6	aldosterone
7	noradrenaline or norepinephrine
8	catecholamines
9	cholesterol
10	triglycerides
11	LDL or Lipoproteins, LDL cholesterol
12	HDL or Lipoproteins, HDL cholesterol
13	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12
14	sodium
15	salt
16	sodium chloride
17	14 or 15 or 16
18	diet
19	dietary
20	intake
21	restriction or reduction
22	18 or 19 or 20 or 21
23	17 and 22
24	random
25	random allocation
26	randomised
27	randomized
28	randomisation
29	randomization
30	controlled trials

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

Table 01. Search strategy to identify randomised salt reduction trials (Continued)

Set	Search terms
31	24 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30
32	13 and 23 and 31
33	limt 32 to human

ANALYSES

Comparison 01. Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model)

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 Systolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)	32		Net Change in SBP (Fixed) 95% CI	-3.03 [-3.46, -2.59]
02 Diastolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)	34		Net Change in DBP (Fixed) 95% CI	-1.76 [-2.07, -1.46]

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Aldosterone [blood]; Blood Pressure [physiology]; Hypertension [blood; *diet therapy]; Lipids [blood]; Norepinephrine [blood]; Randomized Controlled Trials; Renin [blood]; Sodium Chloride, Dietary [*administration & dosage]

MeSH check words

Humans

COVER SHEET

Title	Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure	
Authors	He FJ, MacGregor GA	
Contribution of author(s)	Both authors were involved in the design of the review. Feng J He conducted the search, data extraction and statistical analyses. Graham A MacGregor supervised all aspects of the review conduct. Both authors wrote the original draft of the manuscript, contributed to the revision and final version of the paper. Both authors act as guarantors.	
Issue protocol first published	1	
Review first published	2004/3	
Date of most recent amendment	24 May 2006	
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	09 May 2005	
What's New	Compared with the first version published in the Journal of Human Hypertension in 2002, the following changes have been made: A repeated search using the same search strategy was carried out in April 2005. Fourteen new references have been found. Among these 14 references, 3 met the inclusion criteria (Meland 1997, Gates 2004 and Swift 2005) and have been included in the meta-analysis. The other 11 did not meet the inclusion criteria and have, therefore, been excluded.	

Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure (Review)

	We have also added the following to the discussion: A recent randomised double-blind trial in hypertensive blacks demonstrates that a mod- est reduction in salt intake not only lowers blood pressure, but also reduces urinary pro- tein excretion which is an independent risk factor for the progression of renal disease and cardiovascular disease. Another randomised double-blind trial in individuals with stage 1 isolated systolic hypertension shows that modest salt reduction lowers blood pressure, and also improves the directly measured large elastic artery compliance. The results from these recent studies provide further support to the accumulating evidence that a modest reduction in salt intake not only lowers blood pressure, but also has other beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system.
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	01 April 2005
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Dr Graham MacGregor Professor of Cardiovascular Medicine Blood Pressure Unit St. George's Hospital Medical School Cranmer Terrace London SW17 0RE UK E-mail: g.macgregor@sghms.ac.uk Tel: +44 20 8725 2848 Fax: +44 20 8725 2959
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD004937
Cochrane Library number	CD004937
Editorial group	Cochrane Hypertension Group
Editorial group code	HM-HTN

GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES

Figure 01. Relationship between the net change in urinary sodium excretion and systolic blood pressure. The open circles represent normotensives and the solid circles represent hypertensives. The slope is weighted by the inverse of the variance of the net change in systolic blood pressure. The size of the circle is in proportion to the weight of the trial.



Figure 02. Relationship between the net change in urinary sodium excretion and diastolic blood pressure. The open circles represent normotensives and the solid circles represent hypertensives. The slope is weighted by the inverse of the variance of the net change in diastolic blood pressure. The size of the circle is in proportion to the weight of the trial.



Figure 03. Funnel plot to explore publication bias (systolic). The vertical line is at the mean effect size. Precision is the reciprocal of the standard error of the net change in systolic blood pressure.



Figure 04. Funnel plot to explore publication bias (diastolic). The vertical line is at the mean effect size. Precision is the reciprocal of the standard error of the net change in diastolic blood pressure.



Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model), Outcome 01 Systolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)

Review: Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure

Comparison: 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model)

Outcome: 01 Systolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)

Study	Net Change in SBP (SE)	Net Change in SBP (Fixed) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Net Change in SBP (Fixed) 95% Cl
01 Hypertensives				
ANHMRC 1989 (P)	-5.50 (1.48)		2.2	-5.50 [-8.40, -2.60]
ANHMRC 1989 (X)	-3.60 (0.70)	-	9.9	-3.60 [-4.97, -2.23]
Benetos 1992	-6.50 (1.67)		1.7	-6.50 [-9.77, -3.23]
Cappuccio 1997 (H)	-6.60 (2.63)	<u>← · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·</u>	0.7	-6.60 [-11.75, -1.45]
Chalmers 1986	-5.10 (1.42)	- _	2.4	-5.10 [-7.88, -2.32]
Erwteman 1984	-2.70 (2.20)		1.0	-2.70 [-7.01, 1.61]
Fotherby 1993	-8.00 (3.77)	←	0.3	-8.00 [-15.39, -0.61]
Gates 2004	-7.00 (2.90)	·	0.6	-7.00 [-12.68, -1.32]
Grobbee 1987	-0.80 (1.80)	.	1.5	-0.80 [-4.33, 2.73]
MacGregor 1982	-10.00 (2.40)	H	0.8	-10.00 [-14.70, -5.30]
MacGregor 1989	-8.00 (2.00)	<u>←</u>	1.2	-8.00 [-11.92, -4.08]
Meland 1997	-4.00 (1.97)		1.3	-4.00 [-7.85, -0.15]
Parijs 1973	-6.70 (3.43)	<u>← · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·</u>	0.4	-6.70 [-13.42, 0.02]
Puska 1983 (H)	1.80 (4.11)		0.3	1.80 [-6.26, 9.86]
Richards 1984	-5.20 (4.10)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.3	-5.20 [-13.24, 2.84]
Sacks 2001 (H)	-8.70 (0.99)	+	4.9	-8.70 [-10.64, -6.76]
Silman 1983	-8.70 (10.22)	··	0.0	-8.70 [-28.73, .33]
Swift 2005	-7.70 (2.12)	<u>←</u> +	1.1	-7.70 [-11.85, -3.55]
Watt 1983	-0.50 (1.50)		2.2	-0.50 [-3.44, 2.44]
Subtotal (95% CI) Test for heterogeneity chi-squa Test for overall effect z=13.18	are=47.48 df=18 p=0.0002 l?? =62.19 p<0.00001	*	32.9	-5.06 [-5.81, -4.31]
02 Normotensives Cappuccio 1997 (N)	-8.20 (3.07)	···	0.5	-8.20 [-14.22, -2.18]
Cobiac 1992	-1.70 (2.14)		1.1	-1.70 [-5.89, 2.49]
Mascioli 1991	-3.60 (0.90)		6.0	-3.60 [-5.36, -1.84]
		-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0 Favours Low Salt Favours Control		(Continued)

(... Continued)

Study	Net Change in SBP (SE)	Net Change in SBP (Fixed) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Net Change in SBP (Fixed 95% Cl
Nestel 1993 (F)	-6.00 (4.91)	← · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.2	-6.00 [-15.62, 3.62]
Nestel 1993 (M)	-2.00 (3.43)		0.4	-2.00 [-8.72, 4.72]
Puska 1983 (N)	-1.50 (3.32)		0.4	-1.50 [-8.01, 5.01]
Ruppert 1993	1.70 (2.39)		0.8	1.70 [-2.98, 6.38]
Sacks 2001 (N)	-5.30 (0.77)		8.2	-5.30 [-6.81, -3.79]
Schorr 1996	-7.20 (4.90)	← +	0.2	-7.20 [-16.80, 2.40]
TOHPRG 1992	-1.70 (0.59)		13.9	-1.70 [-2.86, -0.54]
TOHPRG 1997	-1.20 (0.50)		19.4	-1.20 [-2.18, -0.22]
Watt 1985 (HH)	-1.40 (0.74)		8.8	-1.40 [-2.85, 0.05]
Watt 1985 (LL)	-0.50 (0.82)		7.2	-0.50 [-2.11, 1.11]
8, , ,	uare=36.64 df=12 p=0.0003 l?? =67.3%	•	67.1	-2.03 [-2.56, -1.50]
Test for overall effect z=7.56 Total (95% CI)		•	100.0	-3.03 [-3.46, -2.59]
Test for heterogeneity chi-sq Test for overall effect z=13.7	uare=125.86 df=31 p=<0.0001 l?? =75.4 5 p<0.00001	4%		

-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0

Favours Low Salt

Favours Control

Analysis 01.02. Comparison 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model), Outcome 02 Diastolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)

Review: Effect of longer-term modest salt reduction on blood pressure

Comparison: 01 Mean Net Change in Blood Pressure with Salt Reduction (Fixed Effect Model)

Outcome: 02 Diastolic Blood Pressure (Fixed Effect Model)

Study	Net Change in DBP (SE)	Net Change in DBP (Fixed) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Net Change in DBP (Fixed) 95% Cl
01 Hypertensives				
ANHMRC 1989 (P)	-2.80 (0.85)		3.4	-2.80 [-4.47, -1.13]
ANHMRC 1989 (X)	-2.10 (0.40)	+	15.4	-2.10 [-2.88, -1.32]
Benetos 1992	-3.70 (1.29)	.	1.5	-3.70 [-6.23, -1.17]
Cappuccio 1997 (H)	-2.70 (1.32)	- _	1.4	-2.70 [-5.29, -0.11]
Chalmers 1986	-4.20 (0.85)		3.4	-4.20 [-5.87, -2.53]
Erwteman 1984	-3.40 (1.70)		0.9	-3.40 [-6.73, -0.07]
Fotherby 1993	0.00 (2.39)		0.4	0.00 [-4.68, 4.68]
Gates 2004	-1.00 (1.83)		0.7	-1.00 [-4.59, 2.59]
Grobbee 1987	-0.80 (1.55)	.	1.0	-0.80 [-3.84, 2.24]
MacGregor 1982	-5.00 (1.47)	<u> </u>	1.1	-5.00 [-7.88, -2.12]
MacGregor 1989	-5.10 (1.53)	<u> </u>	1.0	-5.10 [-8.10, -2.10]
Meland 1997	-2.00 (1.25)		1.6	-2.00 [-4.45, 0.45]
Morgan 1981 (F)	-4.00 (3.22)	←	0.2	-4.00 [-10.31, 2.31]
Morgan 1981 (M)	-8.00 (3.78)	← +	0.2	-8.00 [-15.41, -0.59]
Parijs 1973	3.20 (3.62)		0.2	3.20 [-3.90, 10.30]
Puska 1983 (H)	0.50 (2.34)		0.4	0.50 [-4.09, 5.09]
Richards 1984	-1.80 (3.55)		0.2	-1.80 [-8.76, 5.16]
Sacks 2001 (H)	-4.50 (0.62)		6.4	-4.50 [-5.72, -3.28]
Silman 1983	-6.30 (4.42)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.1	-6.30 [-14.96, 2.36]
Swift 2005	-3.10 (1.11)		2.0	-3.10 [-5.28, -0.92]
Watt 1983	-0.30 (0.80)		3.8	-0.30 [-1.87, 1.27]
Subtotal (95% CI) Test for heterogeneity chi-squa Test for overall effect z=11.61	are=39.95 df=20 p=0.005 l?? =49.9% p<0.00001	٠	45.4	-2.70 [-3.16, -2.24]
02 Normotensives Cappuccio 1997 (N)	-3.90 (1.65)		0.9	-3.90 [-7.13, -0.67]
		-10.0 -5.0 0 5.0 10.0 Favours Low Salt Favours Control		(Continued)

(... Continued)

Study Net Change in DBP (FL) Weight 95% CO Net Change in DBP (FL 95% CO Weight 95% CO Net Change in DBP (FL 95% CO Cabac (192 0.80 (101) - 2.4 0.80 (1-1.8.7.8] Maciol (1991 -2.30 (0.80) - 3.8 -2.20 (3.8, -0.73.] Nestel (193 (r) -1.00 (2.65) 0.3 -1.00 [-4.19, 4/19.] Nestel (193 (r) -1.00 (2.65) 0.3 -1.00 [-4.19, 4/19.] Naka (983 (N) -2.10 (2.03) 0.6 -2.10 (-4.68, 18.3] Bapper (1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 42.1] Saka 2001 (N) -2.30 (0.50) 9.8 -2.40 [-3.52, -1.6.2] Scharr 1996 -2.90 (0.21) -1.39 -0.90 (-1.72, -2.08] TOH-PRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) -1.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.8] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) -2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) -2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Bit for heteroregeneity dis square=10.4.51 af=33 p=<0.0001 IP = 68.4%					(Continue
Mascioli 1991 -2.30 (0.80) - 3.8 -2.30 [-3.87, -0.73] Nestel 1993 (F) -2.00 (3.1) 0.2 -2.00 [-8.49, 4.49] Nestel 1993 (M) -1.00 (2.65) 0.3 -1.00 [-6.19, 4.19] Puska 1983 (N) -2.10 (2.03) 0.6 -2.10 [-6.08, 1.88] Ruppert 1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 4.21] Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) - 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 0.90 (0.42) - 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) - 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) - 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) - 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=104.51 df=33 p=<0.0001 I? =65.6% - 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Fest for neterogeneity chi-square=104.51 df=33 p=<0.0001 I? =65.6% - 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46]	Study	Net Change in DBP (SE)		0	Net Change in DBP (Fixe 95% Cl
Nestel 1993 (f) -200 (3.1) 0.2 -200 [-8.49, 4.49] Nestel 1993 (M) -100 (2.65) 0.3 -100 [-6.19, 4.19] Puska 1983 (N) -2.10 (2.03) 0.6 -2.10 [-6.08, 1.88] Ruppert 1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 4.21] Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtratal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fet for overall effect z=14.4 p<0.0005 1? = 65.6%	Cobiac 1992	0.80 (1.01)		2.4	0.80 [-1.18, 2.78]
Nestel 1993 (M) -1.00 (2.65) 0.3 -1.00 [-6.19, 4.19] Puska 1983 (N) -2.10 (2.03) 0.6 -2.10 [-6.08, 1.88] Ruppert 1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 4.21] Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (LH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] 54.6 Fet for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 I? =65.6% 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fet for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.00001	Mascioli 1991	-2.30 (0.80)		3.8	-2.30 [-3.87, -0.73]
Puska 1983 (N) -2.10 (2.03) 0.6 -2.10 [-6.08, 1.88] Ruppert 1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 4.21] Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] 54.6 Fest for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0001 I? = 66.6%	Nestel 1993 (F)	-2.00 (3.31)		0.2	-2.00 [-8.49, 4.49]
Ruppert 1993 1.00 (1.64) 0.9 1.00 [-2.21, 4.21] Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (LH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% Cl) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] 54.6 Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 I?? =65.6% 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Fest for overall effect z=14.4 p<0.0001	Nestel 1993 (M)	-1.00 (2.65)		0.3	-1.00 [-6.19, 4.19]
Sacks 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% Cl) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=104.51 df=33 p=<0.0001 I?? =68.4%	Puska 1983 (N)	-2.10 (2.03)		0.6	-2.10 [-6.08, 1.88]
Sades 2001 (N) -2.60 (0.50) 9.8 -2.60 [-3.58, -1.62] Schorr 1996 -2.90 (2.61) 0.4 -2.90 [-8.02, 2.22] TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Test for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 l?! =65.6% 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Test for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0001	Ruppert 1993	1.00 (1.64)		0.9	1.00 [-2.21, 4.21]
TOHPRG 1992 -0.90 (0.42) 13.9 -0.90 [-1.72, -0.08] TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 l?] =65.6% 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Total (95% CI) 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=104.51 df=33 p=<0.0001 l?] =68.4%	Sacks 2001 (N)	-2.60 (0.50)	-	9.8	-2.60 [-3.58, -1.62]
TOHPRG 1997 -0.70 (0.40) 15.4 -0.70 [-1.48, 0.08] Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) 2.8 1.20 [-0.62, 3.02] Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) 3.0 1.40 [-0.36, 3.16] Subtotal (95% Cl) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=134.87 df=12 p=0.0005 1?? =65.6% 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.00001	Schorr 1996	-2.90 (2.61)		0.4	-2.90 [-8.02, 2.22]
Watt 1985 (HH) 1.20 (0.93) Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) Subtotal (95% Cl) 3.0 Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 I?? =65.6% For overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0000 I	TOHPRG 1992	-0.90 (0.42)	-	13.9	-0.90 [-1.72, -0.08]
Watt 1985 (LL) 1.40 (0.90) Subtotal (95% Cl) 3.0 Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 1?? =65.6% Test for overall effect z=4.64 p 0.00001 Total (95% Cl) It for heterogeneity chi-square=104.51 df=33 p=<0.0001 1?? =68.4%	TOHPRG 1997	-0.70 (0.40)	-	15.4	-0.70 [-1.48, 0.08]
Subtotal (95% CI) 54.6 -0.99 [-1.40, -0.57] Fest for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 !?? =65.6% 100.0 -1.76 [-2.07, -1.46] Fest for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0000 I	Watt 1985 (HH)	1.20 (0.93)	+	2.8	1.20 [-0.62, 3.02]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 I?? =65.6% Test for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0000 I	Watt 1985 (LL)	1.40 (0.90)		3.0	1.40 [-0.36, 3.16]
Test for heterogeneity chi-square=34.87 df=12 p=0.0005 l?? =65.6% Test for overall effect z=4.64 p<0.0000 l	ubtotal (95% CI)		•	54.6	-0.99 [-1.40, -0.57]